Eastern Kentucky University

Encompass

Online Theses and Dissertations

Student Scholarship

January 2022

Community College Retention Initiative: A Qualitative Study On The Lived Experiences Of Black Males Entrenched In A Mentoring Program At One Associate-Level College In The Southeastern Region

Brandon Turnley
Eastern Kentucky University

Follow this and additional works at: https://encompass.eku.edu/etd

Part of the African American Studies Commons, Disability and Equity in Education Commons, Higher Education Commons, and the Race and Ethnicity Commons

Recommended Citation

Turnley, Brandon, "Community College Retention Initiative: A Qualitative Study On The Lived Experiences Of Black Males Entrenched In A Mentoring Program At One Associate-Level College In The Southeastern Region" (2022). *Online Theses and Dissertations*. 773.

https://encompass.eku.edu/etd/773

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at Encompass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Online Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Encompass. For more information, please contact Linda.Sizemore@eku.edu.

COMMUNITY COLLEGE RETENTION INITIATIVE: A QUALITATIVE STUDY ON THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF BLACK MALES ENTRENCHED IN A MENTORING PROGRAM AT ONE ASSOCIATE-LEVEL COLLEGE IN THE SOUTHEASTERN REGION

BY

BRANDON TURNLEY

THESIS APPROVED:

—Docusigned by:

Told Muardle

Chair, Advisory Committee

DocuSigned by:

Roger Cleveland

Member, Advisory Committee

DocuSigned by:

Wardell Johnson

Member, Advisory Committee

Member, Advisory Committee

DocuSigned by:

Dean, Graduate School

STATEMENT OF PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Doctorate

of Education degree at Eastern Kentucky University, I agree that the Library shall make

it available to borrowers under rules of the Library. Brief quotations from this

document are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate

acknowledgements of the source are made. Permission for extensive quotation from

or reproduction of this document may be granted by my major professor. In [his/her]

absence, by the Head of Interlibrary Services when, in the opinion of either, the

proposed use of the material is for scholarly purposes. Any copying or use of the

material in this document for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written

permission.

Signature:

Date: 9/7/2022

X Buran hums

COMMUNITY COLLEGE RETENTION INITIATIVE: A QUALITATIVE STUDY ON THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF BLACK MALES ENTRENCHED IN A MENTORING PROGRAM AT ONE ASSOCIATE-LEVEL COLLEGE IN THE SOUTHEASTERN REGION

BY

BRANDON J. TURNLEY

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

Eastern Kentucky University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTORATE OF EDUCATION

2022

© Copyright by BRANDON J. TURNLEY 2022 All Rights Reserved.

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my wife, family, friends, church, and mentors. Thank you all for believing in me even when I did not believe in myself. Your prayers, reassurances, and uplifting pep talks got me through the roughest days of this journey. To my wife, who is my everything, you prayed with me, cried with me, motivated me, and kept me moving forward; this journey would be non-existent had you not walked with me. To my parents, you instilled in me at a very young age that I can accomplish anything if I put God first. I love you, and thank you for praying and rooting for me. To my friends, you answered my calls and gave me the encouragement I needed when I was down. To my church family, you prayed with me and for me when my spirit was low. And lastly, my mentors, you believed in me more than I believed in myself; thank you for pushing me and never allowing me to accept anything less than greatness.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Completing this dissertation would not be possible without the support and guidance of some outstanding individuals. First, to Dr. Todd McCardle, thank you for accepting the role as my dissertation chair. Words cannot express my gratitude when you took on the role. I will never forget your encouragement, assuring me that I would make it through this journey when I had doubts. Secondly, to my dissertation committee Dr. Roger Cleveland and Dr. Wardell Johnson. Dr. Cleveland, you have been one of my most incredible mentors and supporters since I was in sixth grade. You have been a great role model and have shown me what a true leader looks like. Dr. Johnson, your words of wisdom are priceless. I thank you for always being true to your word by being there when I need you.

Thirdly, I would also like to acknowledge my cousin Veleria Elaine Shavers, who earned her heavenly wings on 12-06-2021. She has supported me throughout my educational journey, starting in undergrad. Without her generous contribution to my education and love for me, I am sure I would be unable to get to this point. You inspired me to finish to the very end. I hope I have made you proud. Lastly, I would like to acknowledge the participants of this study. Thank you for being willing to share your story in hopes of inspiring others. It was a pleasure getting to know each of you and I pray you all will continue to reach the goals you have set.

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the lived experiences of graduates of a Black Male Initiative (BMI) mentoring program at one associate-level college in the southeast region and the impact mentoring had on the participants' success at the college and its impact on obtaining their degree. Critical Race Theory (CRT) was used as the theoretical framework for this study. CRT acknowledges the centrality of race in every aspect of culture in the United States, including higher education. To guide this study, there were three research questions (1) How do graduates of the mentoring program view their success with the program? (2) What do students taking part in the mentoring program have to say about their experience at the college? (3) What do the mentoring program participants believe was the most beneficial aspect of the program?

The researcher interviewed five Black males to capture the participants' lived experiences. Each participant participated in three separate individual interviews and one focus group. Three themes emerged from the study: (a) Sense of Belonging, (b) Accountability, and (c) Positive Black Male Figure. The findings determined that the BMI mentoring program significantly impacted the participants' success and aided participants in graduating from the associate-level college.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CH	IAPTER	PAGE
Ch	apter I. Introduction	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Significance	3
	Purpose of the Study	4
	Theoretical Framework	5
	Design and Methodology	7
	Research Ethics	7
	Deficiencies with Past Literature	7
	Definition of Terms	8
Ch	apter II. Research	11
	Achievement Gaps and Opportunity Gaps	12
	CRT	16
	CRT in Education	18
	Examples of CRT studies in Education	18
	Community Colleges	20
	Criticism of Community Colleges	22
	Student Engagement	23
	Student Engagement Defined	23
	The Experience of Racism	25
	Lack of a Sense of Belonging	26

	First-Generation College Students	27
	Retention	29
	BMIs	31
	Kentucky BMI Programs	32
	Mentoring	32
Chapter III. Methodology36		
	Introduction	36
	Research Questions	36
	Methodology	37
	Case Study	39
	Theoretical Framework	40
	Setting	44
	Participant Selection	45
	Participants	45
	Establishing Rapport	46
	Researcher's Role	46
	Interviews	47
	Data Collection	47
	Data Analysis	49
	Positionality Statement	50
	Summary	50
^h	anter IV: Results	52

	Data Analysis	.52
	Procedures	.53
	Participants	.53
	Bryson	.54
	Jalen	.54
	Kevin	.55
	Jamaal	.56
	Rodney	.56
	Perceptions of Mentoring	.57
	Why Community College?	.58
	Emergent Themes	.59
	Theme 1: Sense of Belonging	.60
	Theme 2: Accountability	.63
	Theme 3: Positive Black Male Figure	.66
	Chapter Summary	.68
Cha	apter V: Conclusion, Discussion, and Recommendations	.70
	The Importance of Mentoring	.73
	Limitations	.75
	Research Implications and Recommendations	.76
	Future Research Recommendations	.77
	Conclusion	.78
Ref	ferences	.79

Appendix A: Consent Form	104
Appendix B: Email Invitation	107
Appendix C: Interview Questions	109

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	PAGE
Table 1. Participants' Definitions	57
Table 2. Statements About Community Colleges	59
Table 3. Themes	68

Chapter I. Introduction

I promise to give my very best to achieve my every goal; To be faithful and disciplined with everything in my control; Learning as much as I can for knowledge is the Key; There is nothing I cannot do, but the first steps starts with me; I represent my family even my community as a whole' And I refuse to let negativity keep me from my goal' I will exceed and excel if I just have faith and believe; I am a future Black Male Working, and there is no limit to what I can achieve; I will arise above all prejudice, and stay positive the whole way through, for I am a future Black Man working and you can be one too! (Black Male Working Academy, Inc., n.d., para.)

I recited this creed every Saturday morning starting in my sixth through 12th grade year. My mentor inspired me to live up to the expectations of the philosophy and never settle for anything less than greatness. I learned this as one of many lessons while being a part of a mentoring initiative. I owe much of my success to the teachings of the program. I valued the mentorship I received while participating in the program, and I want other Black males to go through a program that provides a mentor in hopes that they will benefit as much as I did. Although I had support from my parents, I did not have support in my classrooms. I did not connect with my teachers and felt like a number rather than an individual. Being part of the mentoring initiative, I was not a number, and they recognized my struggle and supported me through my educational journey. My mentors believed in me and pushed me to do better.

Black male retention initiatives remain a necessity in today's colleges and universities across the United States (Irvine, 2019). There are various, complex reasons for the need for mentoring programs. First-generation, low-income, single-parent households, and unprepared students are some reasons for the need for the programs (Brooms, 2018). Many first-generation students suffer while navigating through college. Parents of first-generation students are little to no help because they did not go to college themselves (Grace-Odeleye & Santiago, 2019). Fear of asking for help also plays a role in Black males graduating. Many do not have someone in their lives who have been to college to ask for help or guidance. According to Davis and Palmer (2010), Black males are more likely to be racially discriminated against in secondary education and unprepared for college-level work than other ethnic groups. As a result, Black males struggle with assignments, become frustrated, and give up. These examples explain why some Black males do not graduate from college. Questions abound in higher education institutions nationwide about increasing Black male graduation rates through targeted retention strategies.

I conducted a case study to gain insights to develop additional ideas and study questions to be explored in future studies. I examined and documented Black males' lived experiences in the Black Male Initiative (BMI) at one associate-level college in the southeast region.

Problem Statement

Black males attend and graduate from college far less than other ethnic groups (Irvine, 2019). Tolliver and Miller (2018) highlighted that less than 33% of Black males

graduate within 6 years and perform far less academically than other ethnic groups. According to the United States Department of Education (n.d.), the national graduation rate for Black males is 33.5%, while their White male counterparts are estimated at 60.1%. According to Zell (2011), Black males remain highly underrepresented in higher education and are less likely to receive support. Zell suggested that this group often suffers from a lack of diversity commitments from colleges and universities and support systems like mentoring initiatives. LaVant et al. (1997) stated that when proper and well-organized systems that promote achievement in Black males are in place, they are truly set for success. Most colleges and universities recognize this issue and have established Black male mentoring initiatives to retain and increase the enrollment of Black male students. I examined Black male graduates who defied the odds and stereotypes. I provided an opportunity to allow them to share their story of the program and their motivation.

Significance

It is estimated that 70.5% of Black male students are enrolled in a community college instead of a 4-year university (Wood & Harrison, 2014). Although many Black males attend college, they face enormous challenges such as stereotypes from faculty, staff, and peers (Newman et al., 2015). Stereotypes can negatively impact individuals thinking they are not worthy or intelligent enough to perform academically well (Von Robertson & Chaney, 2015). Watson et al. (2015) shared that many Black male students are regularly profiled and face many hardships during their educational

journey because of the lack of support from college faculty and staff. Therefore, a positive mentor and program are necessary for the Black male student.

Mentoring is an interpersonal relationship between a mentor and mentee that offers support (Wang, 2012). Mentoring can be formal or informal. Implementing mentoring programs has become a top priority at colleges across the United States (Crisp et al., 2017). Mentoring has gained national attention and has been a helpful resource for Black males to meet their needs to succeed in the classroom (Washington et al., 2017). In addition, mentoring has been identified as necessary for student's development as an individual and their academics (Crisp et al., 2017).

Purpose of the Study

BMI is one of the leading mentoring programs established for Black males who struggle to survive college at predominantly White institutions (PWIs). The mentoring program aims to retain Black males through targeted programs designed to increase, encourage, and support inclusion and educational success. The BMI develops valuable leadership skills as a male empowerment program designed to address Black males' needs. In addition, this initiative fosters a supportive environment for students to learn and grow as active members of the academic community and as individuals through education.

Garcia et al. (2018) stated that the critical race theory (CRT) allows researchers to analyze and alter the educational realities of minority students and their communities. In addition, CRT is practical in exemplifying the complexity of race, gender, class, and social justice systems (Ladson-Billings, 2021). For instance, CRT

allows individuals to tell their stories about their experiences so that readers will have a personal connection to the events and circumstances. In this study, I examined Black males' perceptions of the associate-level college BMI mentoring support program. In this qualitative case study, I explored lived experiences of graduates of a BMI mentoring program at one associate-level college in the southeast region. Through interviews, I allowed research participants to share their experience of the program and how it influenced them to stay in college to continue their pursuit of a degree.

Research questions that guided this study were as follows:

Research Question 1 (RQ1): How do graduates of the mentoring program view their success with the program?

Research Question 2 (RQ2): What do students taking part in mentoring program have to say about their experience at the college?

Research Question 3 (RQ3): What do the graduates of the mentoring program believe were the qualities of the program that helped them obtain their education and succeed in their careers?

Theoretical Framework

CRT was used as the theoretical framework for this study. In the mid-1970s, CRT found its roots in the legal field through the work of Derrick Bell, who is considered the father of CRT (Ladson-Billings, 1998). However, scholars have used this theory on race and racism in education (Hartlep, 2009). Notable CRT scholars include Kimberlé Crenshaw, Cheryl Harris, Richard Delgado, Patricia Williams, Gloria Ladson-Billings, and Tara Yosso. There are five tenants of CRT are: (a) the notion that racism is

ordinary and not aberrational; (b) the idea of an interest convergence; (c) the social construction of race; (d) the idea of storytelling and counter-storytelling; and (e) the notion that Whites have been recipients of civil rights legislation (Hartlep, 2009). Further explanation of these tenants will be provided in Chapter three.

CRT challenges cultures that behave and function in ways that benefit the masses (Hall, 2017). These groups have the monetary gain to maintain a caste-like system of insignificant individuals. Lucas (2018) stated that American schools have overlooked their ability to support minority students (especially Black males). For over two decades, CRT has successfully allowed voices of marginalized groups to be heard on the inequities of the United States' educational system (Hartlep, 2009). Wendt (2014) described CRT as a framework used to point out inequalities present in the academic achievement of students of color. Researchers who use this approach grasp a better understanding of students of color because it gives a perspective through the lens of the individuals who are being studied. Senegal (2011), who used a similar approach, wrote that CRT allows participants to share their experiences through the programs. Therefore, CRT was ideal for this study. CRT was used to explore and highlight the journey Black males' experience in the mentoring program.

Specifically, CRT can examine how racial profiling has shaped Black males' experiences attending college. Smith et al. (2007) suggested that "research and empirical data show that Black males are constantly confronted by a system that oppresses them because they are members of a racialized group (African Americans)

and because they are Black men" (p. 563). Research also declares that these individuals undergo daily racial stereotypes established by White students.

Design and Methodology

This study was a qualitative case study. A case study approach allows for an indepth investigation of a program, event, activity, or process for one or more individuals (Creswell, 2009). Creswell (2009) suggested that a case study is bound by time and training, and researchers collect detailed information using various data collection procedures over a sustained period. In this case study, I identified the essence of human experiences described by participants (see Creswell, 2009). In this study, five graduates who identify as Black males of the BMI mentoring program were asked what most helped them while in the male initiative program. Through the lens of CRT, I was able to record the narratives of the graduates.

Research Ethics

Ethical issues that develop in qualitative research involve protecting participants' identities by not disclosing personal information. Confidentiality was a priority when conducting research, ensuring no private information was documented. Consent agreements were given out before the study began. Participants acknowledged involvement by signing the consent form and agreed to the nature of the study. Participants were allowed to withdraw from the study if they wished.

Deficiencies with Past Literature

College administrators have struggled to retain students due to unprepared, uninterested college students (Fernando & Kenny, 2021). Retention also suffers when

students find jobs with a suitable income; as a result, school gets put on the bottom of the priority list. The Black male is no exception to this fact. The decline of Black male retention has caused many researchers to study the cause of this epidemic. Researchers such as Chan et al. (2015) have conducted mentoring programs to evaluate academic success and challenge Black males in college. According to Salinitri (2005), mentoring has shown a significant increase in academic performance and retention. The BMI initiative I studied differed from other programs because this school and population have yet to be explored. The program administrators allowed me to examine Black males' perceptions and experiences to understand better what encourages and challenges them to complete a degree. However, similar studies have been conducted on this topic. Many researchers have not contacted graduates asking what helped them while participating in male mentoring programs. The Southeast region has been known to have few faculty members and staff who represent the African American population. The literature review will provide a deeper understanding of four core functions that benefit the Black male.

Definition of Terms

Achievement gap- The disparity in academic achievement for Black students compared to White students (Clark, 2014).

African American - An American of African descent.

Black male- A student of Black or African American descent.

BMI - A system-wide initiative designed to increase the number of African

American males who complete their postsecondary education. Its mission is to provide

an integrated program model of academic and social tools that support students in adopting a positive mindset to complete classes successfully, elevate their cumulative grade point averages (GPAs), and matriculate through each educational level, and graduate.

Case study- An in-depth investigation by a researcher seeking to explore the real-life experiences of an individual or group through observations or interviews (Creswell & Poth, 2016).

Community college- An accredited institution that only awards individuals an associate in science or an associate in arts degree (Cohen & Brawer, 2003).

CRT- A framework used to point out inequalities that are present in the academic achievement of minorities (Wendt, 2014)

First-generation- A student whose biological parents did not earn a college degree.

Marginalized group - Different groups of individuals within a given culture, context, and history are at risk of being subjected to multiple discrimination due to the interplay of different personal characteristics or grounds, such as sex, gender, age, ethnicity, religion or belief, health status, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, education or income, or living in various geographic localities.

Mentoring- A process where a student and a faculty or staff have a relationship that gives guidance and direction.

Mentor- A person who gives support to an individual who needs guidance.

Mentee - A person who is advised, trained, or counseled by a mentor; individuals following the expert guidance of mentors through an established mentorship.

PWI - Institutions of higher learning in which Whites account for 50% or greater student enrollment.

Race – Category society places on physical characteristics (i.e., skin color, hair type, facial form, and eye shape). Though many believe that race is determined by biology, it is now widely accepted that this classification system was created for social and political reasons. As a result, there are more genetic and biological differences within the racial groups defined by society than between different groups.

Racism - A false belief in White supremacy that handicaps society, that upholds Whites as superior to all other groups, and the structural subordination of multiple racial and ethnic groups (Yosso et al., 2004, p.7).

Storytelling- A tenet of CRT that allows minority groups to replace narratives of the majority perspective with those that include the views and lived experiences of minority populations (Hartlep, 2009).

Student engagement- "An active commitment and purposeful effort expended by students towards all aspects of their learning, including both formal and informal activities" (Boulton et al., 2019, p.1).

Success- An accomplishment by Black males who successfully graduate from a 2-year PWI.

Chapter II. Research

Education leaders struggle to be culturally competent by not embracing and creating inclusive environments (Hardin & Hardin, 2002). Lindsey et al. (2009) wrote that individuals can be blind to other cultures that differ from their own due to privilege and entitlement. Lindsey et al. (2009) described cultural proficiency as a mindset accepting and valuing cultural differences. The road to cultural competency begins with a commitment from education leaders who promote diversity and inclusion for students, staff, and faculty. The world is changing and is filled with diverse populations. According to Colby and Ortman (2015), the United States census projected that between 2014 and 2060, there will be a 62 million increase in diverse populations. Nevertheless, according to Dubbeld et al. (2019), most teachers struggle in multicultural classes mainly due to training. Gause (2010) wrote that embracing diversity will require individuals to look past differences by combining all parts of cultures, values, and beliefs. This is important because it allows individuals to understand who we are and the various forms of diversity.

Feingold (2019) noted that representing different races and ethnicities is necessary for leadership roles. The educational process is vital for students to understand the content in schools. Specifically, Black males need support and guidance. According to Mohamad Karkouti (2016), to have social change, the practice of diversity and inclusion must be implemented. More minority teachers and programs and staying current with diversity and inclusion policies, which qualify as implemented practices. According to Lindsey et al. (2009), to be culturally proficient is to be aware

that multiple views out in the world differ from our own. There are four barriers stifle cultural proficiency including: (a) the researcher asserts systematic oppression, (b) the presumption of entitlement, (c) unawareness of the need to adapt, and (d) resistance to change (Lindsey et al., 2009). The barriers support the breakdown in the progress toward cultural proficiency.

Achievement Gaps and Opportunity Gaps

In the late 1960s, many African American, Latino, and Native American students still attended poorly funded segregated schools at rates lower than those serving White students (Darling-Hammond, 1998). Ladson- Billings (2013) stated that this was due to systemic inequalities. Kern (2020) suggests that an achievement gap was formed due to these inequities. Kern (2020) added that the achievement gap disparities stem from segregation during the Jim Crow era. Kern also added that "Stereotypes, lack of access to education, factors outside-of-school, and Eurocentric pedagogy all impact the initial achievement gap as well as contribute to its continuation" (p. 28). According to Darling-Hammond (2013) the most apparent inequities ranged from not having "expert teachers, personalized attention, high-quality curriculum opportunities, good educational materials, and plentiful information resources (p.77).

In 1964, the United States passed the Civil Rights Act, which banned discrimination in education based on race. However, opportunity disparities in the United States continued to be an issue for Black students, specifically Black males (Rowley & Wright, 2011). The achievement gap is often used to describe the disparities

in academic performance of Black and Hispanic students, especially those in high-poverty areas, compared to their White counterparts (Carlock, Chaney, & Owen, 2022). Darling-Hammond (2013) highlights that the achievement gap stems "from the time that southern states made it illegal to teach an enslaved person to read, through Emancipation and Jim Crow, and well into the twentieth century, African Americans faced de facto and de jure exclusion from public schools, as did Native Americans and, frequently, Mexican Americans. (p.77).

According to Camera (2016):

The achievement gap between White students and Black students has barely narrowed over the last 50 years, despite a near half-century of supposed progress in race relations and an increased emphasis on closing such academic discrepancies between groups of students. (p. 1)

In 2001, the United States attempted to resolve and close the achievement gap by implementing the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB; Rowley & Wright, 2011).

According to Rowley and Wright (2011):

NCLB requires all schools to provide a quality education regardless of the child's demographics or ability level and, if these schools fail to achieve adequate yearly progress, parents are allowed to remove their children from that school and place them in a better school. (p. 93)

Although the NCLB had good intentions, it still did not meet the needs of Black students.

Clark (2014) defined the achievement gap as the disparity in academic achievement for Black students compared to White students. According to Koppie (2017), the achievement gap for Black males is significantly higher than for their White counterparts. Koppie also stated that Black males are not prepared to be in an educational setting, nor are they given a fair opportunity to receive an education due to inequalities. Ladson- Billing (2013) notes that this results from the opportunity gap, which stems from years of inequitable resources. These inequalities have their roots in the historical conflict between the dominant White American culture and the subdominant Black American culture (Bailey & Bradbury-Bailey, 2006; Basch, 2011; Cassidy & Stevenson, 2005; Ferguson, 2020; Fordham, 1996; Jenkins, 2006; Kozol, 2005; Noguera & Wing, 2008; Ogbu, 2004; Palmer & Maramba, 2011; Portes, 2008; West, 1994, 2002; Whiting, 2006; Willie, 1994).

Hung et al. (2020) conducted a study to examine the factors that lead to the achievement gap between White and Black students. The study consisted of reviewing 2,868 schools across the United States. They concluded that economic inequality, racial inequality, and household educational attainment factored into the achievement gap disparities. Allen (2017) stated two factors are apparent in Black males' achievement gap, which are: (a) school resources and (b) socioeconomic status.

According to Condron et al. (2013), Black male students from low socioeconomic backgrounds attend schools that lack proper resources such as books, qualified teachers to teach them, and support from the school. Hung et al. explained that this is due to segregated areas where Black students are sent to high-poverty schools with

the least qualified personnel teaching. In contrast, White students are sent to non-poverty schools with well-qualified personnel.

Carter and Welner (2013) stated that the achievement gap is a term used frequently in education to describe the disparities in achievement levels between White and Black students because of their socioeconomic status. However, they explained that the achievement gap results from limited opportunities available to minorities with low socioeconomic classes, created by what is known as the opportunity gap. Carlock, Chaney, & Owen (2022) suggest that the term opportunity gap is more appropriate to describe the real issue in U.S education. Darling-Hammond (2013) defines the opportunity gap as "the cumulative differences in access to key educational resources that support learning at home and at school: expert teachers, personalized attention, high-quality curriculum opportunities, good educational materials, and plentiful information sources" (p. 77).

Ladson-Billings (2013) agrees with refraining from using the term "
achievement gap " and focusing more on the opportunity gap for achievement gap
"suggests that something inherent in Black and Latino students, their families,
communities, cultures, schools, and teachers is responsible for the disparities (p.13).
Welner and Carter (2013) also agree and stated that the achievement gap proceeded
from the opportunity gap. They continue to state that the opportunity gap limits
individuals from reaching their full potential due to their inability to receive equitable
opportunities. Ladson- Billings (2013) notes that the opportunity gap was apparent
after the U.S. Supreme Court's *Brown v. Board of Education* decision. Ladson-Billings

(2013) explains that Whites tried to keep segregation alive by not allowing their children to attend desegregated schools or by sending them to private academies.

Hayward (2022) added that during the Supreme Court's *Brown v. Board* decision, there were approximately 82,000 Black teachers across the south. However, once the decision was made, schools serving Black students were closed, causing many Black teachers to lose jobs, resulting in a significant lack of representation in the classroom for Black students. These tactics resulted in many Black and Hispanic students attending predominantly minority schools that were less likely to have equitable resources.

Welner and Carter (2013) conclude that although connected, the opportunity gap differs significantly from the achievement gap. Welner and Carter (2013) add that the opportunity gap focuses on the input rather than the output, meaning that, unlike the achievement gap, it does not focus on what students are accomplishing but rather on the root of how the issue began.

CRT

CRT refers to a historical and contemporary body of scholarship that aims to interrogate the discourses, ideologies, and social structures that produce and maintain conditions of racial injustice (Hatch, 2007). CRT provides tools to explore the realities of racial inequality (Meghji, 2021). CRT seeks to analyze how race and racism are foundational elements in historical and contemporary social structures and experiences (Hatch, 2007).

In the 1970s, CRT found its emergence in research by legal scholars Derrick Bell, Alan Freemen, and Richard Delgado (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). Delgado and Stefancic (2017) noted that Bell, Freeman, and Delgado noticed advancements of the Civil Rights Era were going in the wrong direction and wanted to emphasize racism in America. Ladson-Billings (1998) reported how the education system demonstrated that racism is "normal, not aberrant." The researcher indicated that while the education system was meant to be a public good, Ladson-Billings showed how through biased curricula, stigmatization from teachers, biased assessments, and unequal school funding, Black individuals face a significant deficit in the United States' education system. While many recast the resulting educational inequalities through cultural racism, arguing that Black individuals do not care about education, Ladson-Billings (1998) stressed the need for counter-storytelling to unearth the educational system's structural inequalities and reject myths of Black inferiority.

Kimberlé Crenshaw, Cheryl Harris, Richard Delgado, Patricia Williams, Gloria Ladson-Billings, and Tara Yosso added the CRT research. According to Wendt (2014), CRT was first introduced into education in 1995 and used as a theoretical research framework. Delgado and Stefancic (2017) asserted, "Unlike some academic disciplines, CRT contains an activist dimension. It tries not only to understand our social situation but to change it, setting out not only to ascertain how society organizes itself along racial lines and hierarchies but to transform it for the better" (p. 8). Essentially CRT emphasizes how individuals of color react to racism within the educational system (Yosso et al., 2004). There are five tenets of CRT, which include: (a) the notion that

racism is ordinary and not aberrational; (b) the idea of an interest convergence; (c) the social construction of race; (d) the idea of storytelling and counter-storytelling; and (e) the notion that Whites have actually been recipients of civil rights legislation (Hartlep, 2009). Taylor (1998) concluded that tenets allow individuals to discuss how racism impacts their lives. Taylor added that CRT will enable researchers to "engage and contest negative stereotypes" through storytelling (p. 122).

CRT in Education

Ladson-Billings and Tate (1995) introduced CRT to education. In the article, they argued for a critical race perspective in education on three propositions including:

(a) "race continues to be significant in the United States; (b) United States' society is based on property rights rather than human rights; and (c) the intersection of race and property creates an analytical tool for understanding inequity" (p. 47). The idea emerged because educational researchers had not fully theorized race in education.

Ladson-Billings and Tate believed that CRT could be an excellent framework for examining educational issues involving racism or oppression. Since the introduction of CRT in education, many scholars, Solorzano et al. (2000), Harper (2009), and McCoy (2014), have conducted studies using CRT in education as a theoretical framework.

Examples of CRT studies in Education

Solorzano and Yosso (2000) conducted a CRT study that explored how microaggressions affected African Americans' experiences at three "elite" PWIs (p. 65). They used a case study approach and focus groups to collect their data. Using focus groups allowed participants to voice how the microaggressions affected their

experiences. The study concluded that African Americans habitually felt isolated and frustrated with the campus racial climate. Further, participants' stories revealed that the microaggressions towards them caused self-doubt and that they could be successful in themselves.

Harper (2009) conducted a phenomenological study using CRT as a framework to oppose the negative narrative of Black males in higher education that they cannot succeed in higher education. To conduct this, Harper interviewed 143 undergraduate Black males at 30 PWIs. The findings revealed that Black males are consistently overlooked and considered inferior to their White counterparts. However, participants persisted in school and achieved academic achievement despite the negative stereotypes and consistent racism they experienced. The participants achieved this by standing their ground, being visible on campus, and confronting racist stereotypes.

McCoy (2014) conducted a study like Harper (2009), using CRT as well as using a phenomenological approach. McCoy's study explored to "understand first-generation students' of color transitional experiences from urban areas to an extreme PWI" (p. 155). McCoy defined the term extreme PWI as an institution with a majority White student population with minimal students of color. McCoy used the CRT tenet of counter-storytelling to understand the experiences of students of color who transitioned from a diverse community to an institution he phrased as a "sea of Whiteness" (p. 163). The findings revealed that participants who transitioned to a PWI encountered a "culture shock" and had to overcome challenges socially and culturally. McCoy's study highlighted the need for PWIs to create a welcoming environment and

programs such as a BMI to assist the needs of that population, so they do not feel invisible.

Community Colleges

Cohen and Brawer (2003) defined a community college as an accredited institution that only awards individuals an associate in science or an associate in arts degree. So unlike 4-year institutions, community colleges cannot provide or award bachelor's, master's, or doctorate degrees. Historically known as junior or 2-year colleges, community colleges were a product of the Morrill Act of 1862 and 1890 (Drury, 2003). According to Drury (2003), the 1862 Act helped expand access to individuals who were denied education, while the 1890 Act helped expand access to minorities to obtain an education at land grant institutions. However, it was not until 1901 that the first community college was founded in Chicago, Illinois, with the help of William Harper, the University of Chicago president at the time (Drury, 2003). Cohen and Brawer (2003) noted that the rise and success of community colleges were due to the demanding need for trained professionals in the workforce. According to Cohen and Brawer, in 1930, over 450 community colleges were developed in the United States. The growth and popularity of community colleges continued to grow over the years, and all states by the 1990s had established community colleges. Cohen and Brawer (2003) noted that in the 1990s, community colleges strategically recruited minorities who had not previously had an opportunity to attend. They continued to note that by 1991 community colleges enrolled 47% of minority students pursuing higher education.

Over the past decade, community colleges have been highly sought out due to the flexible admissions requirement to enter the institution (Goldrick-Rab, 2007). Four-year institutions have strict test and GPA requirements and are outrageously expensive to most individuals. According to Hanson (n.d.), in the southeastern region, the average community college costs \$4,230, while a 4-year college or university costs \$10,680. Black males who cannot meet the requirements for 4-year institutions utilize the community college route for their education. Wood (2012) noted that community colleges have opened a door of opportunity for Black males to receive higher education.

Dougherty (1987) stated:

Community colleges have become a central artery into higher education for working-class and minority students. Students in public two-year colleges are considerably more likely than students in four-year colleges to be nonwhite and to have parents who hold working-class jobs, make less than the median family income, and have not gone to college. (p. 86)

According to Clotfelter et al. (2013), community colleges are very diverse and offer various program options for students compared to 4-year institutions. Kasper (2003) supported this, stating that community colleges are more flexible, allowing students to obtain a certificate for a skill or a degree to advance to a 4-year institution at any point in their life.

Although community colleges are viewed as an alternative route due to the flexible admission process and tuition affordability, community colleges also receive much criticism. Community colleges are viewed by many as an easy route to allow the less able to obtain a degree at a bare minimum effort to obtain a job (Gauthier, 2020). This leads to fewer individuals pursuing a bachelor's degree at a 4-year institution. Dougherty (1987) provided three issues of the community college route:

- 1. In the first 2 years of college, institutional factors produce a higher dropout rate among community-college entrants than among comparable 4-year-college entrants. The key institutional factors underlying this process are community colleges' low academic selectivity and lack of dormitories.
- 2. Among students who survive the first 2 years of college, community-college entrants encounter greater institutional obstacles to continuation into the upper division of 4-year colleges than comparable 4-year-college entrants. The key factors here are community colleges' strong vocational orientation, the distaste of 4-year colleges for the community-college transfers, the scarcity of financial aid for community-college transfers, and the simple fact that movement to the upper division requires movement to a new and unfamiliar school.
- 3. Among students who do enter the upper division of 4-year colleges, community-college entrants encounter greater institutional hindrances to continuation in the upper division of 4-year colleges than comparable 4-year-

college entrants. These factors include frequent loss of credits, difficulty securing financial aid, difficulty becoming socially integrated into the 4-year college, poorer preparation for upper-division work, and consequent difficulty becoming academically integrated into the four-year college. (p. 94)

Student Engagement

Student Engagement Defined

In education, student engagement refers to the degree of attention, curiosity, interest, optimism, and passion that students show when they are learning or being taught, which extends to the level of motivation they have to learn and progress in their education. Generally speaking, the concept of "student engagement" is predicated on the belief that learning improves when students are inquisitive, interested, or inspired, and that learning tends to suffer when students are bored, dispassionate, disaffected, or otherwise "disengaged." Stronger student engagement or improved student engagement are common instructional objectives expressed by educators. (Great Schools Partnership, 2016).

Student engagement has been recognized as essential for student success in higher education (Kahu, 2013). However, Kahu and Nelson (2018) pointed out that student success rates for underrepresented populations, specifically Black males are considerably lower than for White students. According to Olson and Peterson (2015), approximately 55% of students in the United States are engaged in school, 28% are disengaged, and 17% are actively disengaged. With this point, institutional leaders

must emphasize student engagement on their campuses for this population. Pascarella and Terenzini (2005) stated that because individual effort and involvement are the critical determinants of college impact, institutions should shape their academic, interpersonal, and extracurricular offerings to encourage student engagement.

Boulton et al. (2019) defined student engagement as "active commitment and purposeful effort expended by students towards all aspects of their learning, including both formal and informal activities" (p. 1). Students who are engaged and committed have positive outcomes for their academic success. Student engagement has been a prominent topic in research for more than 70 years and continues to evolve (Kuh, 2009). Student engagement has established prominence in today's research from iterations of past research on the quality of effort and involvement. Notable pioneers who laid the foundation for the research now known as student engagement today include Tyler (1932), Pace (1984), & Astin (1985).

Tyler, a psychologist by trade, conducted research on student engagement in the early 1930s, focusing on how much time students spent on their work and how it affected their learning (Axelson & Flick, 2010). This student engagement theory was later known as time on task (Kuh, 2009). Tyler's research concluded that the time students spend on their studies would ultimately determine their success and understanding of the content. Pace added to that theory with research on the quality of effort, which led to developing of the College Student Experiences Questionnaire (Kuh, 2009). Pace's (1984) theory on engagement concluded that if students intentionally studied and interacted with faculty, staff, and peers on substantive

content, they were more likely to succeed. After Pace researched the quality of effort, Astin (1985) popularized the concept with the theory on involvement. Astin (1984) wrote, "The theory of student involvement encourages educators to focus less on what they do and more on what the student does: how motivated the student is and how much time and energy the student devotes to the learning process" (p. 522). Although these scholars phrased the student engagement concept differently, the premise remained that students learn when engaged (Pike & Kuh, 2005). Kahu and Nelson (2018) supported this concept stating that student engagement is complex and multifaceted; an overarching 'meta-construct' aims to draw together diverse threads of research contributing to explanations of student success.

National Survey of Student Engagement (2011) stated that student engagement has two critical factors to benefit students. First is students' effort into purposeful activities and the time for their studies. The second is how school staff members utilize their resources to create opportunities and activities for students to be engaged. Brooms (2019) studied individuals' engagement experience, specifically Black males on campus, and shared why they believed it was meaningful. The findings showed that the Black males felt culturally connected and felt valued.

The Experience of Racism

Yosso et al. (2004) defined racism as "a false belief in White supremacy that handicaps society, (b) a system that upholds Whites as superior to all other groups, and (c) the structural subordination of multiple racial and ethnic group" (p. 7). The experience of racism for Black males is not new, as it has been an issue in American

society for this group for years (Carter, 2012). Harper (2012) stated that with racism present, Black males are subjected to stereotypes and a lack of support from faculty or staff. As a result, Harper noted that Black males tend to lose confidence in themselves and academics. Steele (1997) agreed and stated that consistent stereotyping develops a sense of inadequacy, preventing them from achieving academic success. Racism can also harm Black males' mental health. Smith et al. (2007) conducted a study and examined how the experience of racism affected 36 Black males' mental health while attending a PWI. Their findings revealed that the Black males had a psychological response of frustration, shock, avoidance or withdrawal, disbelief, anger, aggressiveness, uncertainty or confusion, resentment, anxiety, helplessness, hopelessness, and fear. Williams and Williams-Morris (2000) noted, "Racism in societal institutions can lead to truncated socioeconomic mobility, differential access to desirable resources, and poor living conditions" (p. 243). They also added that "discrimination can induce physiological and psychological reactions that can lead to adverse changes in mental health status" (p. 243). Utsey (1997) agreed with Williams and Williams-Morris and added that the daily experience of racism is traumatizing, which can alter one belief that one can succeed.

Lack of a Sense of Belonging

Hawkins-Jones and Reeves (2020) stated:

Although it may appear that Black males do not value education due to mediocre academic scores, the truth is far more nuanced. The lack of culturally relevant learning experiences with culturally competent teachers, academic

disconnection, and stereotypical labeling account for their negative self-image and poor academic performance. Culturally relevant pedagogy reveals that students' educational experiences are often the factors that influence their academic achievement and self-regulation. (p. 40)

Masika and Jones (2016) stated that students feel more accepted, valued, and essential on campus when they have a sense of belonging. Brooms (2020) added that the development of students' belonging begins with the relationships students develop with faculty members or peers. According to Strayhorn and DeVita (2010), Black males are more likely than their White counterparts to be unengaged and socially dismissed on college campuses, resulting in a high dropout rate. According to O'Meara et al. (2017), a sense of belonging is the feeling of being connected, supported, valued, and respected by a significant group. Booker (2007) conducted a study that examined the relationship between school belonging and academic achievement. Findings revealed that the students felt belonging when the school's faculty and staff seemed to accept and support them. Ultimately this encouraged the students to strive for academic excellence. In addition, the students revealed encouragement from faculty and staff and appreciated school-related activities. This study highlights Brooms (2019) thought that establishing a welcoming environment is crucial to increasing academic performance and success.

First-Generation College Students

A first-generation college student can be defined as pursuing a postsecondary education when their parents did not (Gibbons & Woodside, 2014). Compared to non-

first-generation students, this population faces many barriers to achieving higher education degrees (Gibbons & Woodside, 2014). For example, Woosley and Shepler (2011) stated that compared to non-first-generation students, first-generation college students are more likely to drop out of school. In addition, 4.5 million first-generation students who pursue a bachelor's degree, which is about 24% of the undergraduate population, will have obstacles that will hinder obtaining a college degree (Engle & Tinto, 2008). According to Petty (2014), many first-generation students are older, married, attend school less than full-time, are employed, and are not active in campus activities.

Tym et al. (2004) asserted:

Students whose parents did not attend college are more likely than their non-first-generation counterparts to be less academically prepared for college, to have less knowledge of how to apply for college and for financial assistance, and to have more difficulty in acclimating themselves to college once they enroll. They are also more at risk for not completing a degree because they are more likely to delay enrollment after high school, to enroll in postsecondary education part-time, and work full-time while enrolled. Targeted intervention efforts that reach out to first-generation students both before and during college can help mitigate the differences between first-generation and non-first-generation students and can help colleges reach their goal of recruiting and retaining all students. (p. 1)

Petty (2014) studied the roles and steps institutions should enact to ensure that first-generation college students are successful. Petty concluded that institutions should provide various programs to help with their challenges. Compared to traditional students, many first-generation college students lack interest and motivation regarding education (Petty, 2014). This is apparent when looking at the rates of first-generation college graduates. Petty (2014) explained that first-generation college students juggle home life and higher education culture. Coming from a household without training or understanding of college functions is a heavy burden on a first-generation student. In addition, entering a new world of higher education alone without family support can have an extreme factor in failure. First-generation students do not possess that kind of capital to navigate collegiate spaces as freely as those who do (Petty, 2014).

Retention

Tinto's (1993) model identified three primary reasons for a student dropping out of school, which included: (a) academic difficulties, (b) the inability of individuals to resolve their educational and occupational goals, and (c) their failure to become or remain incorporated in the intellectual and social life of the institution. In addition, Tinto (1993) identified critical elements in the struggle to retain Black males. So often, these Black males struggle academically; they do not feel like they belong on campus or cannot conclude what they want to do.

Hall (2017) wrote that student retention at colleges and universities remains a top priority. However, many fail to retain significant proportions of students who

attend. Reasons for those who do not continue varies by student. Factors such as social engagement, academic preparedness, and a sense of belonging are why many do not continue their education. The African American male population is most concerned about retention within postsecondary education (Hall, 2017). Compared to Black females and other ethnic groups, Black males continues to see a decline in retention and graduation. Although efforts have been made to recruit and retain males of color, the fact of the matter is that many do not stay.

Males of color experience attending predominantly White campuses do not have a sense of belonging on campus (Hall, 2017). Many Black males feel they do not have a support system, and the campus is not inviting. The lack of diversity on campus makes Black males feel inferior to the campus culture, which drives a want to leave (Hall, 2017). This idea refers to one fitting in on campus. Too many Black males fitting in is an area they could not accomplish. Creating an inclusive environment is crucial in retaining males of color on campus. According to Brooks et al. (2013), Black males are considered trouble and unfit for the vigor of college work. This stigma puts a target on their backs, which many faculty can accept and not push the individual student.

Black males face much adversity on college campuses (Brooks et al., 2013).

Therefore, the need for retention programs that focuses directly on males of color is a must. Retention programs of this nature create an environment that allows Black males to discuss the issues they regularly face openly (Brooks et al., 2013). Brooks et al. (2013) claimed that programs like these are viewed as a model that allows attrition to decrease, ultimately increasing achievement.

BMIs

Brooms (2018) defined a BMI as a program that helps develop and nurture individuals by providing academic and social support. According to Brooms (2019), BMIs were created as an intervention measure for Black males to help retain and graduate them. Brooms (2020) stated that these programs speak to the needs of Black males and help establish a sense of belonging on campus. Black males are often stereotyped and harassed in PWIs, causing fear and a horrible college experience.

Smith et al. (2016) conducted a study on the experiences of 36 Black males who attended a PWI. Smith et al. found that the Black males were psychologically drained from racism, causing Black males to feel frustrated, anxious, and fearful. The researchers also found that a predominantly White campus was more hostile toward Black males causing a distraction in their learning. The two emerging themes from the study were: "(a) anti-Black male stereotyping and marginality and (b) hyper surveillance and control directed at Black men by Whites" (Smith et al., 2016, p. 1).

The main factor in Black males not attaining success is the lack of preparation, disengagement, and access to necessary resources (Brooms, 2018). The researcher noted that Black males' success issues had gained enormous attention over the years (Brooms, 2018). As a result, efforts such as BMIs have been shared at many schools to close the achievement gap. Among the most successful retention programs include Black Man's Think Tank (University of Cincinnati), the Student African American Brotherhood (Georgia Southwestern University), the BMI (Texas Southern University), and the Meyerhoff Program (University of Maryland Baltimore County).

Kentucky BMI Programs

BMIs have been found to promote a sense of belonging, establish identity, develop leadership qualities, and academic success (Brooms, 2019). These programs build community and help establish relationships amongst students. Kentucky is one of many states with colleges and universities with BMI programs. For example, Eastern Kentucky University has a mentoring program called, Call Me Mister, a national initiative that brings together an individual who wants to pursue a career in education. The University of Louisville's BMI program provides participants with mentors and promotes academic excellence and leadership qualities. Western Kentucky University's program called Why Knot Us attempts to reduce the attrition rates of Black male students. It provides a positive support system for the Black male student while on campus. The University of Kentucky has a similar program, My Brothers' Keeper, which promotes connections with faculty and students. Many of these initiatives focus on graduation, retention, and persistence. Initiatives such as these benefit Black males because they give them a sense of identity. In addition, according to Brooms (2018), the initiative's atmosphere increases Black males' sense of belonging on campus.

Mentoring

Educating the Black male student has been a nationwide problem that involves social and economic issues. Colleges and universities struggle to retain and keep this population engaged. Many Black male students face many hardships and are regularly profiled as unteachable and unreachable (Brooms, 2018). The stigma of these stereotypes has hindered their success as educators push them to the side. The lack of

support is apparent, and Black males reap the benefit. The question is, what is the solution? Implementing mentoring programs is a meaningful way to resolve the problem.

Strayhorn and Terrell (2007) concluded that Black male students enjoy academic-focused mentoring programs. Stromei (2000) suggested that a mentor provides two functions for their mentee: (a) career-related and (b) psychosocial. Stromei explained that career-related functions help the mentee with career development and the psychosocial help with socialization and self-image. Mentorship can have a lasting effect on an individual's life. There has been proven data from research that mentoring is an indicator of student success. LaVant et al. (1997) identified two types of mentoring styles, formal and informal. The formal mentoring model is used more frequently because it is more effective in the research. Formal mentoring provides a more intrusive aspect where the mentoring becomes more personable and meaningful. According to Douglas (2017), many colleges have established mentoring programs for African American males. Crisp (2010) notes that with mentoring programs implemented in schools, the success and retention of Black males are bound to improve.

DuBois and Karcher (2005) defined mentoring as a process where the mentor gives life lessons and instruction to mentees in hopes of growth and development.

Mentoring provides an experienced individual in areas where the mentee hopes to grow. The mentoring process can be within a school or work setting, but the impact is the same. LaVant et al. (1997) claimed that the mentor also serves as a reality checker.

The mentor is significant in the mentee's life, and difficult conversations arise. The mentor must show the 'do's and the don'ts" in the area to pursue life.

Mentoring is a process that has many trials and tribulations. Some mentoring methods can be negative or positive in an individual's life. Gordon et al. (2009) defined mentoring as a positive relationship with a person who is not a parent to an adolescent. Gordon et al. (2009) continued to explain that to have a positive outcome of mentorship; the six functions should be implemented, including (a) emphasis on the relationship; (b) emphasis on the information exchange; (c) focus on facilitation; (d) focus on confrontation; (e) attention to their role as a model for the mentee; and (f) attention to the vision that the mentee brings to the relationship. Mentoring is viewed not just as what the mentor brings to the table, but the same is true for the mentee. To have an effective mentorship, both the mentee and mentor need to have cheerful mindsets and build trusting relationships.

PWIs can be a foreign place to Black male students (Sinanan, 2016). As the researcher stated, it is also tricky for Black males to navigate the complex nature of academic environment issues and challenges. Sinanan (2016) suggested that a bond between Black faculty mentoring and Black college students is a topic that needs to be addressed in an effort for colleges to recognize best practices for retention and student satisfaction.

Mentorship will provide a life-changing experience valuable to the mentee, providing them with helpful tools to get them through their academic journey (Douglas, 2017). In addition, the relationship between the mentor and the mentee

should be one that can grow over time. If practical, Hughes (2010) mentioned that mentoring can result in a lifelong bond that is very special between the mentor and the mentee. For Black males who do not have a positive figure in their lives in or out of school, the mentor can quickly fill that void to ensure the student will be successful.

Chapter III. Methodology

Introduction

I explored the lived experiences of graduates of a mentoring program at one predominantly White community associate-level college attempting to retain Black males through a targeted program designed to increase, encourage, and support inclusion and educational success. I conducted a qualitative study using interviews and a focus group for five participants to achieve this. Through their voices, information was gathered that supported that mentoring of the program provided a pathway to their college success and graduation. This chapter will introduce the research methods, methodology, design, steps to conduct research, participants, and data collection.

Research Questions

I explored the lived experiences of graduates of a mentoring program at one predominantly White community associate level college. I used a case study approach to answer the following three questions to conduct this study.

RQ1: How do graduates of the mentoring program view their success with the program?

RQ2: What do students taking part in the mentoring program have to say about their experience at the college?

RQ3: What do the mentoring program participants believe was the most beneficial aspect of the program?

Methodology

Qualitative studies focus explicitly on the participants' lived experiences or stories to add to the body of existing research (Lichtman, 2013). Qualitative research collects, organizes, and interprets information gathered by observing and listening. He also provides ten critical elements of qualitative research (Lichtman, 2013). According to Lichtman (2013):

Qualitative research it involves description, understanding, and interpretation; it is dynamic; different methods may be employed in conducting qualitative research; it involves an inductive approach; it is holistic, viewing the situation in its entirety; data is typically gathered in natural settings; the researcher is instrumental in constructing an interpretation of reality; limited phenomena are studied in depth; reporting is characterized by thick description, often using the words of participants, and qualitative research frequently proceeds in a nonlinear fashion. (p. 28)

Qualitative research allows researchers to uncover and understand any phenomenon. Busetto et al. (2020) quoted Philipsen and Vernooij-Dassen's (2007) definition of qualitative research as "the study of the nature of phenomena," including "their quality, different manifestations, the context in which they appear or the perspectives from which they can be perceived," but excluding "their range, frequency, and place in an objectively determined chain of cause and effect." It also allows the researcher to obtain from first-hand observations, semi structured interviews, questionnaires, focus groups, participant observations, and recordings

made in a natural setting (Punch, 2013). Qualitative methods also facilitate the study of phenomenon research that is too complicated for quantitative to convey (Roberts, 2010). Some research questions cannot be answered using only quantitative methods. According to Busetto et al. (2020), research problems that can be approached particularly well using qualitative methods include assessing complex multicomponent interventions or systems (of change), addressing questions beyond "what works" towards "what works for whom when, how and why," and focusing on intervention improvement rather than accreditation.

The foundation of qualitative research is anthropology, sociology, and humanities principles (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Qualitative research has seen an increase in popularity over the years. According to Lichtman (2013), qualitative methodology seeks to answer the "why and how" (p. 37). Furthermore, Lichtman (2013) stated that qualitative research does not require participants to be in a controlled environment but a natural setting, enabling participants to tell their stories. This element of qualitative research raised my curiosity to capture participants' experiences, ensuring authenticity about the phenomenon being explored. I also found it interesting that I matched Lichtman's qualities to determine if qualitative methodology was the right choice. These qualities include interest in individuals and being empathetic toward them, interest in real individuals in a natural setting, and interest in thoughts, behaviors, and feelings (p. 35).

Creswell and Creswell (2017) stated that qualitative research explores and finds meaning in human and social issues for individuals and groups. Unlike quantitative

research, qualitative does not focus on numbers to explain the data. Instead, qualitative tells the story of the participants and looks to understand by observing. Lichtman (2013) defined qualitative research as how researchers collect, organize, and interpret information gathered by observing and listening. Lichtman (2013) continued by saying that qualitative research relies heavily on human interaction and verbal or visual communication. The qualitative methodology examines humans in a natural rather than an experimental environment. Qualitative research explores humans in their natural settings to find meaning and understanding. To find this meaning, I conducted a case study. Glatthorn and Joyner (2005) described a case study as investigating a real-life phenomenon. Creswell and Creswell (2017) further explained that case studies are in-depth analyses of individuals, cases, or events. To perform this case study, I conducted a series of interviews and one focus group that addressed the experiences of the young men who graduated from the program.

Case Study

A case study is defined as an in-depth investigation by a researcher seeking to explore the real-life experiences of an individual or group through observations or interviews (Creswell & Poth, 2016). Case studies have a long history of being used across many disciplines, including anthropology and sociology (Creswell & Poth, 2016). Case studies are formed when an identified case needs to be analyzed, whether an individual, event, or community. For this study, the mentoring program focused on the graduates telling their experiences. There are three variations of case studies including: (a) instrumental, (b) collective, and (c) intrinsic (Creswell & Poth, 2016).

Instrumental focuses on one issue or concern. Collective chooses multiple issues.

Intrinsic focuses on a unique or unusual situation of a program or individual. For this study, I used an instrumental case study.

Theoretical Framework

This dissertation was designed through the CRT lens. CRT was developed and introduced in education in the early 1970s through the work done by Derrick Bell in legal studies. Bell (1980) realized the advancements of the Civil Rights Era were going in the wrong direction and wanted to emphasize racism in America. Since the introduction to education, scholars Richard Delgado, Kimberlé Crenshaw, Cheryl Harris, Richard Delgado, Patricia Williams, Gloria Ladson-Billings, and Tara Yosso have added to the body of research on CRT.

Crenshaw is among the notable pioneers of legal scholars of CRT who highlighted the inequities for individuals of color (Taylor et al., 2009). CRT was appropriate for this study because this theory suggests that race and racism are a regular part of the culture (see Hartlep, 2009). CRT views racism as an ingrained part of American society that privileges White individuals over those of color (Hiraldo, 2010). With this notion, it is not easy to build a diverse and inclusive educational environment for those of color. Critical race theorists assert that racism is integral to United States' life, law, and culture. Therefore, any attempt to address and eradicate racial inequities must be grounded in the socio-historical legacy of racism (Reynolds & Mayweather, 2017). As mentioned in Chapter 1, there are five tenants of CRT, which include: (a) the notion that racism is ordinary and not aberrational; (b) the idea of an interest

convergence; (c) the social construction of race; (d) the idea of storytelling and counter-storytelling; and (e) the notion that Whites have been recipients of civil rights legislation (Hartlep, 2009).

The first tenet of CRT is the notion that racism is ordinary and not aberrational. In Chapter 2, racism was defined as a false belief that Whites are superior to all other groups (Yosso et al., 2004). This definition supports Milner's (2017) idea that racism is persistent and omnipresent in society and education. Milner also quoted the words of Bobo and Kluegel (1993) that because race and racism are deeply rooted in United States' society, they are also ingrained and deeply embedded in the policies, practices, procedures, and standardized education systems. In addition, Delgado and Stefancic (2001) concluded that racism "is the usual way society does business, the common, everyday experience of most individuals of color in this country" (p. 7). According to Hartlep (2009), these views promote color-blindness and meritocracy. Hartlep stated:

First, color-blindness legitimizes racism's need for an "other" in order to flourish and maintain its influence within the fabric of society. Racism and White supremacy are not aberrant, insofar as the oppressors—the status quo—exploit the "others" (the oppressed) in order to maintain their elitist control, as well as to claim that they are neutral. Close examination repudiates this false sense of neutrality. Second, meritocracy allows the empowered—the status quo—to feel "good" and have a clear conscience: many would ask why the powerful would not have a clear conscience since they maintain a majority of the wealth and power in society. The powerful maintain power and only

relinquish portions of it when they have nothing to lose; furthermore, they receive platitudes and compliments when they do choose to dole out portions of their power. (p. 7)

The second tenet is the idea of interest convergence. Interest convergence is an "analytical construct that considers the motivating factors for laws and social policies established to eradicate racial discrimination or provide remedies for racial injustice on the basis of 'merit' and 'colour-blindness'" (Donnor, 2005, p. 57). Interest convergence was theorized by Bell (1980), who is considered the father of CRT. Bell believed that Whites would promote and support racial justice or progress if there were something in return. Whites push for equality for minorities if there is a benefit for them.

Ladson-Billings' (2021) illustrated an excellent example of interest convergence by explaining that it occurred in 1988 when Arizona Governor Evan Mecham canceled the state's Martin Luther King Jr's (MLK) holiday. As a result, the state lost over \$25 million in revenue due to canceled conventions and sporting events. This loss made the governor rescind this cancelation for the following year. Ladson-Billings (2021) noted that the governor's action to allow MLK to be a holiday again was in the best interest of the state economy rather than what the holiday represented. This example clearly shows interest convergence when Whites benefit from pushing racial justice.

The third tenet is the social construction of race. Winant (2001) mentioned "race has been a constitutive element, an organizational principle, a "praxis" and structure that has constructed and reconstructed world society since the emergence of

modernity" (p. 19). This essentially means race has been a factor since the start of society. Ladson-Billings (1999) mentioned that the social construction of race has been damaging to individuals of color. Hartlep (2009) provided these examples of the social construction of race in society:

(a) The infamous *Dred Scott v. Sandford* case whereby the U.S. Supreme Court declared that "Negroes," whether free or enslaved, were not citizens; or (b) the infamous "one drop rule," a relic from the Jim Crow era where one drop of Black blood made an individual "Black."; and (c) how in 1935 minorities were denied Social Security and excluded from unions. (p. 9)

The fourth tenet is the idea of storytelling and counter-storytelling. Storytelling allows minority groups to replace narratives that only reflect the majority perspective with those that include the views and lived experiences of minority populations.

Castelli and Castelli (2021) reported that this is called revisionist history, which attempts to "unearth little-known chapters of racial struggles" that can validate the current experiences of minorities and support the desire to change (p. 9). Storytelling elevates the minority voices and works toward equity.

The fifth tenet is the notion that Whites have been recipients of civil rights legislation. Hartlep (2009) asserted that Whites have undeniably been the primary beneficiaries of civil rights legislation and affirmative action. Harris (1993) stated, "Following the period of slavery and conquest, Whiteness became the basis of racialized privilege — a type of status in which White racial identity provided the basis

for allocating societal benefits both private and public in character" (p. 1079). This privilege has undoubtedly transferred into education. Nathan (2021) mentioned that post-*Brown v. Board of Education*, students' school assignments have gone from mandatory to a preference for White students. In addition, Nathan noted that it is rare to see many White students at schools with a higher population of minorities.

As a framework, I specifically used counter-storytelling to evaluate the experiences of the five Black males that were interviewed. Howard (2008) confirmed that this is an appropriate approach by stating, "Counterstorytelling gives agency to African American males to offer narratives which can counter much of the rhetorical accounts of their identities that frequently describe them as culturally and socially deficit, uneducated, unmotivated, prone to violence, and anti-intellectual" (p. 975). I aimed to obtain the perceptions of the Black males regarding their experiences in the mentoring program while attending a PWI. CRT enabled the Black males to be heard.

Setting

This study's setting was an associate-level college located in the southeastern region. The college has seven campuses, three of which are considered main campuses, and four regional campuses offering associate degrees, diplomas, and certificates. The BMI program itself is only available on one campus. However, participants of the BMI program can be a part of the program regardless of the campus attended. The institution is considered the most affordable public college based on the per credit amount. In the fall of 2019, the institution reported an enrollment of 10,144. The institution is considered a PWI. According to Kentucky Postsecondary Education

Interactive Data Dashboard (n.d.), White students total 7,300, or 72 % at this institution. Of the total enrollment, 508 were identified as Black males. (Kentucky Postsecondary Education Interactive Data Dashboard, n.d.).

Participant Selection

I used a small, purposively sample of five participants. According to Orcher (2017), purposive sampling is used when participants hold a valued characteristic and will be a good source of information. Each participant for this study entered the associate-level college and BMI the same year as a freshman. These participants also graduated from the associate level college the same year. The ages of the participants ranged from 21 to 24. Each participant received an email/ letter requesting participation in this study. The letter contained the purpose of the study, how the responses will be used in the study, and how their identities will be kept confidential. After reviewing the letter, the participants signed a consent form to participate in the study. Once signed, each participant returned the consent form to me. To hide the participants' identities, I gave each participant pseudonyms. I documented students' experiences at a specific location at this associate-level college. The participants' experiences were communicated to me during their interviews and the focus group.

Participants

The five participants for this study were Kevin, Jamaal, Rodney, Jalen, and Bryson. These names were assigned to each participant as pseudonyms to hide the participants' identities. All five participants have transferred to a 4-year college since graduating from the associate-level college. One of the five (Bryson) has already

graduated with a master's degree. In addition, each participant in this study was active in the BMI and other extracurricular programs.

Establishing Rapport

A good interviewer begins by building rapport and making a participant feel comfortable (Lichtman, 2013). I did not find it difficult to establish a rapport with the participants. These participants were very active in the BMI program, and I saw them frequently. I was not their assigned mentor in the program; however, I was their advisor in another program and suggested they join and stay active in the BMI. As their advisor in the other program, I made it my goal to create a safe and welcoming environment, not just with them but with all my advisees. As a result, my students, including the five participants, trusted and respected me as an individual. This relationship provided an increased opportunity for the data to be rich and authentic.

Researcher's Role

I was responsible for this study's data collection, analysis, and findings. As the researcher, I learned what drove these Black males to stay in the BMI program and what influenced them to graduate. In addition, these Black males shared all their lived experiences while at the associate level college. As Lichtman (2010) stated, the role of the researcher serves as a guide that collects data and makes meaning of what was discovered. This is important for a qualitative study because it explores real individuals' behavior, feelings, and traits in natural settings to find meaning in them.

Interviews

Interviews were conducted via Zoom by the request of the participants due to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) virus. Consent forms were given to each participant willing to participate in the study before setting a date. There were five participants total for this study. Each participant had a separate interview with the researcher to tell their story. The interview questions were based on the research questions presented. Once individual interviews were conducted, a focus group between participants was conducted. The focus group explained how the group felt about the mentoring experience.

Data Collection

Qualitative research data can be collected through various methods such as observations, open-ended interviews, focus groups, or field notes (Roberts, 2010). In this study, I used a case study methodology and utilized interviews and a focus group interview for my source of data collection. Interviewing and capturing narratives of individuals has been a helpful method in qualitative research to capture and make sense of individuals' experiences (Seidman, 2019). The interviews gave the participants a platform to be heard and listened to and for me to understand the lived experiences of being a part of the BMI program and what aspects motivated them to graduate. The focus group allowed participants to collectively share experiences freely and allow others to respond to different experiences. After receiving the consent of the participants, I used a recorder to record the responses of each participant responses to the interview questions. I saved each recording and labeled them as Participant 1,

Participant 2, Participant 3, Participant 4, and Participant 5 to hide the identity of each participant. After each interview, I transcribed the responses of each participant. Once transcribed, I identified themes from all the responses.

The design I chose to guide the interviewing process followed Seidman's (2019) in-depth interview model. Seidman's (2019) model instructs researchers to interview participants on three separate occasions. According to Seidman (2019), the first interview establishes the context of the participant's experience. The interviewer asks them to tell as much as possible about themselves, considering the topic up to the present time. The second interview allows participants to reconstruct the details of their experience within the context in which it occurred.

The interviewee asks the participant to concentrate on the concrete details of the participant's present lived experience in the topic area of the study. The third interview encourages the participants to reflect on the meaning their experience holds for them. According to Seidman (2019), the question of "meaning" is not satisfaction or reward, although such issues may play a part in the participants' thinking. Instead, it addresses the intellectual and emotional connections between the participants' work and life. Having three interviews helps build a relationship between the interviewer and interviewee and avoids what Seidman (2019) called contextual ice. That is, each interview forms the setting for the next and helps to clarify meaning. If the process is not followed, the participant will only focus on their experience while participating and being a university student. The interview process took 3 weeks to complete. Upon approval from Eastern Kentucky University Institutional Review Board (IRB),

participants selected to participate in the study received consent forms. The beginning of the storytelling by the participant served as the participant's consent to participate in the study. Once documents were completed, interviews were over a period of three weeks. The interviews took place at the participant's discretion and lasted 30–50 minutes. I used a tape recorder with the interviewee's permission and transcribed the interviews later.

Data Analysis

Data analysis in qualitative research consists of preparing and organizing the data (i.e., text data as in transcripts or image data as in photographs) for analysis; then reducing the data into themes through a process of coding and condensing the codes; and finally representing the data in figures, tables, or a discussion (Creswell & Poth, 2018). I followed Creswell and Poth's (2018) data analysis spiral as my data analysis process for this study. The steps in the data analysis spiral include managing and organizing the data, reading and memoing emergent ideas, describing and classifying codes into themes, developing and accessing interpretations, and representing and visualizing the data (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Next, interviews and a focus group were conducted. There were three individual interviews for each participant, which aligned with Seidman's (2019) interviewing model, followed by a focus group interview with all participants. After the interviews, I collected and organized my data as the analysis spiral suggests. The interviews were recorded, transcribed, and placed in a binder for each participant. Next, I followed the memoing emergent ideas by thoroughly reading the transcribed interviews to immerse myself in the data and make sense of the

interviews (see Creswell & Poth, 2018). Next, I began the coding method by identifying themes from the data. The coding process is central to qualitative research and involves making sense of the text collected from interviews, observations, and documents (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Finally, I interpreted, represented, and concluded what I learned in the last two steps. The findings of the data are shared in Chapter 4.

Positionality Statement

It is imperative for a researcher to disclose positionality when conducting qualitative research. I am African American male whose educational environment has been predominantly White. I had teachers who did not believe in me until I joined a BMI. I believe that had it not been for my BMI and my mentors, I would not have been as successful as I am today. Since graduating high school, I have been an avid supporter of BMIs, hoping more Black males will join and benefit from them. Starting my career in higher education, I have placed myself as a facilitator in many BMIs. In this study, I was careful not to influence the participants by my beliefs.

Summary

In this qualitative case study, I explored lived experiences of graduates of a BMI mentoring program at one associate-level college in the southeastern region. I explained the research design and described how the data would be collected for this qualitative study. I collected data from the five participants selected for the study through interviews and a focus group. Each interview was recorded and transcribed to ensure the accuracy of the participant's responses. This approach was ideal for this study because it allowed me to hear participants' lived experiences in the program. To

protect the identity of the selected participants, pseudonyms were given to each participant. All recorded material was secure and saved on my personal laptop. In Chapter 4, the findings will be shared.

Chapter IV: Results

In this qualitative case study, I aimed to explore and provide context to the lived experiences of graduates of a mentoring program who attended a predominantly White associate-level college. To achieve this, I used a series of individual interviews with five participants who identified as Black males to achieve this study, followed by a focus group. Each participant was a member of the STRONG (pseudonym) BMI mentoring program at PREP Community College (Pseudonym). In this chapter, I will present the findings and introduce the five participants. In addition, their perspectives on the mentoring program will be highlighted through the transcript interviews.

Data Analysis

As discussed in Chapter 3, I choose to follow Seidman's (2019) in-depth interviewing model. This model instructs researchers to conduct three separate interviews, focusing on a different facet of the research study. Seidman (2019) stated that the first interview serves as an introduction to getting to know the participant, the second interview focuses on the participant's lived experiences, and the third focuses on the meaning of the experience allowing the participants to reflect. I implemented these guidelines to answer my three research questions:

RQ1: How do graduates of the mentoring program view their success with the program?

RQ2: What do students taking part in the mentoring program have to say about their experience at the college?

RQ3: What do the mentoring program participants believe was the most beneficial aspect of the program?

Procedures

As discussed in Chapter Three, the participants for this study were Black males who graduated from a predominantly White associate-level college and were a part of a mentoring program. After receiving approval from the IRB, an invitation to participate in a study email (see Appendix B) and a consent form (see Appendix A) were sent to six prospective research participants. Five of the six prospective research participants responded by accepting the invitation and sending back a signed consent form. The sixth respondent expressed interest in the study but informed me that he could not participate because he had yet to graduate from his associate-level college. To participate in the study as outlined in the consent form, the participant must have been a graduate of an associate-level college, identity as a Black male, and have participated in a BMI mentoring program. The five eligible respondents were invited to participate in the study and were scheduled for three individual interviews and one focus group. Each interview and the focus group were recorded and later transcribed. The time for each interview varied between 30–50 minutes. The focus group interview lasted less than 15 minutes. Due to COVID-19, all participants were given the option to meet in person or virtually via Zoom. Each participant decided to meet virtually.

Participants

The descriptions provide a brief background of each participant based on the information gathered through the interviews. To ensure confidentiality for the

respondents, I used pseudonyms rather than their legal names. I also incorporated security measures by securing data on a password-protected USB drive. The pseudonyms given to the five participants were Bryson, Jalen, Kevin, Jamaal, and Rodney.

Bryson

Bryson was a 23-year-old Black male who worked in human resources. Bryson has three siblings and is the oldest of three. Bryson enjoys exercising at the gym and spending time with his friends. He still lives with his parents to save money to buy a home. During his K-12 years, he mentioned that he went to all predominantly White schools. Bryson recalls sometimes being five out of 20 Black faces in a classroom. After graduating from high school, Bryson wanted to go straight to a 4-year college, but due to the cost, he decided to start at PREP Community College. While attending PREP, Bryson joined STRONG Black Male Initiative, TRIO Student Support Services (SSS), and became a student ambassador. He considered himself a good student who consistently received good grades. After graduating from his associate-level college, Bryson received a bachelor's in business administration at a Historically Black College or University (HBCU). While attending his HBCU, he joined a fraternity and many other school clubs.

Jalen

Jalen was a 21-year old Black male who was a paraeducator at the local school district. He grew up in a single-family home and was raised by his mother. Jalen enjoys hanging out with friends and organizing events. Up until his fifth-grade year, Jalen

went to predominantly White schools. Starting his sixth-grade year, Jalen was accepted into an all-male preparatory school that was predominantly Black. After graduating high school, Jalen decided to attend PREP Community College due to its affordability. While at PREP, he joined STRONG and TRIO SSS program. After graduating from his associate-level college, Jalen pursued his bachelor's in elementary education at a HBCU. Jalen wants his master's degree but is contemplating which degree he wants. Jalen is currently looking for a full-time role as an elementary teacher.

Kevin

Kevin was a 23-year old Black male who was an after-school counselor. Kevin has one sibling, and he is the youngest. Kevin considers himself a laid-back reserved individual who enjoys hanging out with his friends and traveling across the county.

Kevin attended PREP Community College due to his high school GPA and not receiving scholarships to 4-year institutions. While discussing his K-12 years, Kevin considered himself a "mischievous kid" who would get in trouble for doing "stupid things." Kevin mentioned that he did not take school seriously, which he now regrets. However, while at PREP Community College, he mentioned he decided to "get it together" and focus hard on his education. Kevin joined STRONG BMI and TRIO SSS. Kevin mentioned that while at PREP, he joined the local 4-year college marching band through a special between schools. After graduating from PREP, Kevin pursued a degree in kinesiology at the local 4-year institution. Kevin stated that he loves working with kids and plans on being a physical education teacher.

Jamaal

Jamaal was a 23- year old Black male who worked at Amazon. He is an only child and currently lives with his grandmother. During his K-12 years, he mentioned that he went to all predominantly White schools. Jamaal considers himself a quiet and laid back person. Jamaal mentioned that he played sports throughout his K-12 years, which kept him out of trouble. Jamaal mentioned that he decided to attend PREP Community College because it "was something to do." Jamaal mentioned that had he not gone to PREP Community College, his grandmother would have made him get a full-time job. While at PREP Community College, Jamaal joined STRONG and TRIO SSS. He became a peer mentor and a tutor. After graduating from PREP Community College, he pursued his bachelor's in family sciences at a local university.

Rodney was a 21-year old Black male who worked as an operations manager at a sports complex. In his free time, Rodney likes to volunteer in the community by mentoring others as his mentors did for him. Rodney hopes to be a general manager for a sports team day. Rodney has no siblings and was raised by his mother and father. According to Rodney, he and his father did not have a great relationship. Like Jalen, Rodney attended an all-male preparatory school starting his sixth-grade year that was predominantly Black. Rodney mentioned that he decided to attend PREP Community College due to the affordability. While at PREP Community College, he became an active member of SRONG and joined the TRIO SSS program. After graduating from

PREP Community College, he continued his education at a 4-year university to receive his bachelor's degree in communications.

Perceptions of Mentoring

DuBois and Karcher (2005) defined mentoring as a process where the mentor gives life lessons and instruction to mentees in hopes of growth and development.

LaVant et al. (1997) claimed that the mentor also serves as a reality checker. LaVant et al. explained that the mentor has a significant presence in the mentee's life. They showed the 'do's and the don'ts" around pursuing life. During interview two, I asked each participant what mentoring meant to them. Sentiments such as "guide," "authentic," and "advice-giver" were among the words given to describe the term.

Their definitions (see Table 1) support current literature and provide perspective on how Black males perceive mentoring.

Table 1. Participants' Definitions

Research participant	Perception of mentoring quote
	Mentors help and give good advice. They
Kevin	give experiences they went through and
	want me to learn from their experiences,
	so I don't do what they did. Or I could do
	what they did if it went well for them
	Mentor is someone who gives you
Jamaal	wisdom and puts you on game about
	life. Whether that being, like I say,
	school, working, relationships, etc. They
	just make sure you stay on track, don't
	fall off your course in life. It could be a
	father figure or a big brother.
	Mentoring means being there, being
Bryson	present. As a mentor, you have to have
	my best interests at heart. A mentor is
	when somebody tells me I'm wrong.
	Mentorship is very authentic; it's not

	forced to; it's natural. Once you do
	something natural, you do it with your
	all.
	Mentoring. I think of empowerment. I
Rodney	think guidance. I think of aspiration,
	giving them the fire to do something,
	and motivation.
	A mentor is someone who is there to
Jalen	help you, lead you, and guide you when
	things get rough when things are great.
	They're your first contact person.
	They're going to have your back more
	than anybody. They're going to be that
	person you can go to ask about, "Okay,
	do I apply for this job or this job?" And
	they're going to be that person that you
	talk about, "Okay, I'm having this issue in
	a class. What do I need to do?" Or if
	you're having life issues, it's like, okay,
	this is the person I can go to, and I know
	that they're going to have my back and
	give me the best advice, best whatever
	that they can give me.

Why Community College?

Before diving into the themes, I thought it would be essential to hear why the participants recommended other Black males to attend community colleges. Kevin, Jamaal, Bryson, and Jalen participated in the focus group. Rodney, however, was unable able to join. As discussed in Chapter 2, community colleges have increased opportunities for Black males to receive higher education (Wood, 2012). Dougherty (1987) supported this by stating, "community colleges have become a central artery into higher education for working-class and minority students" (p. 86). Kasper (2003) added that community colleges are more flexible, cost-efficient, and allow students to obtain a certificate for a skill or a degree to advance to a four-year institution at any

point in their life. During the focus group session, the participants were asked if they would recommend other Black males to attend an associate-level college before attending a 4-year college. The participants agreed they should attend an associate-level college first, highlighting that it would be in their best interest. Table 2 shows their statements about community colleges.

Table 2. Statements About Community Colleges

Research participant	Recommending community colleges
	quote
	I think it's a good thing to do because if
Kevin	you don't feel confident about college
	out of high school, you can get a feel for
	college in a smaller setting, just to see if
	you'd make it or not, honestly.
	I would definitely say you should go just
Jamaal	because I feel like it's more community
	based and you build relationships with
	people older and younger people, and I
	think that's good.
	I would say I also encourage community
Bryson	college because it's small classes. And
	also, as Jamaal said, it's like a
	community. It's small. And it's cheaper
	than a four-year college.
	Have to agree with the cheap, especially
Jalen	if you are not a good test taker. Your ACT
	scores to get those scholarships at the
	big colleges or the four-year institutions
	aren't getting you those scholarships. So,
	go ahead and start at that small level,
	where the classes are cheaper.

Emergent Themes

In this case study, five Black males who graduated from PREP Community

College (pseudonym) who participated in the STRONG (pseudonym) BMI were

interviewed for this case study. As mentioned above, three individual interviews and one focus group served as the data source for this study. The interview and focus group questions (see Appendix C) were purposively asked to answer my three research questions. Three major themes emerged from the interview data. The themes were:

(a) A Sense of Belonging, (b) Accountability, and (c) Positive Black Male Figure. These themes emerged from the transcription of the research participants lived experiences.

I found these themes following Creswell and Poth (2018) data analysis spiral, as mentioned in Chapter 3.

Theme 1: Sense of Belonging

The responses from the research participants suggest that their experience in the BMI program fostered a sense of belonging on campus. All the research participants appreciated an environment that promoted Black males such as themselves. Three of the 5 participants stated that most of their educational experiences have been predominantly White with no programs that reflected them. The other two participants stated that their educational environment has been predominantly Black, so their transition to PREP Community College was a shock until they joined the BMI program.

Kevin stated,

My elementary school was all White, pretty much. Middle school was all White.

I feel it was good to see other people, successful people of my color. I feel it
was good to be with a group of them and hear their experiences their stories. I

feel it's different from the people that you can relate to. I can relate to it better.

Rodney, whose educational background has been predominantly Black, stated that he had to adjust to attending PREP Community College because it is predominantly White. Rodney mentioned that he was accustomed to teachers and faculty looking like him. In his first interview, he explained that he went to a Black male preparatory school. Rodney stated,

I went to a Black preparatory school starting my seventh-grade year to my senior of high school. Everything was taught through the African American lens.

They teach you how to be a man, and they teach you how to be a man of color.

Once Rodney learned about the BMI program, his comfort level and adjustment to

PREP were much smoother. Rodney stated, "Just seeing people like me and having
that support was good. It also created like a small little brotherhood. Brotherhood is
always good because there's just people holding each other accountable. It was great
that we were doing it."

Jalen, who also went to a majority-Black school, stated he had a tough adjustment attending STRONG until he joined the BMI program. Jalen stated,

It was hard because growing up at an all-Black school, people in the class looked like me, and the teachers looked like me. When I got to STRONG, it was completely different. You want to see other Black males and Black females also achieving.

Bryson, who has gone to all White schools where they never offered BMI programs, expressed his gratitude that STRONG had the BMI program available. Bryson stated,

I loved it because it was just a space where brothers like Black men and me could just get comfortable and talk about what we faced daily." So, to see a Black man that has made it so far into where he is right now was just really encouraging. And the program is really great. We get so much information all the time, and we used to go out details for dinner too. I will really encourage all Black men to get that program when they go to college because it gives you that sense of belonging, that you're not alone. You have somebody with you. You have a brother who's going through something that you're going through, or somebody went through what you're going through.

Jamaal mentioned that it was hard to communicate with his White counterparts on campus, often making him feel like an outsider. He recalled a project he had to do with a group of all-White participants. Jamaal stated,

I had to do a group project in my family science class. It was weird trying to communicate with them. I'm not trying to fit in, but I know myself, and I guess you could say the culture played a part, and the communication is different.

However, when Jamaal joined the BMI, he shared similar thoughts as Bryson. Jamaal stated,

It felt like community-based. It felt like it was a family. I felt like I was cared about if that makes sense. Being around a bunch of Black males, I felt, would

help me along the way because we all can relate in some sense and hold each other down.

Prior to joining the program, many of the participants did not enjoy the experience of being on a predominantly White campus. They felt ignored, unmotivated, and alone. The BMI program reassured them that they truly belonged on campus. It provided a safe environment where they could be comfortable in their skin. Jalen and Rodney mentioned that the support they received from the program prompted them to want to return the favor and mentor others to avoid feeling the same. Jalen stated, "[The BMI program] helped me start enjoying school more, and helped me realize I want to do the same and be able to give back to students." Rodney stated, "I want to help those other Black males out, to keep them on track."

Theme 2: Accountability

All participants voiced how much they appreciated their mentors for holding them accountable and how it significantly impacted their academic success. According to the participants, they did not do their best in school at times, which resulted in bad grades and missing assignments. However, after joining the BMI and having their mentors, they appreciated their constant reminders to do their work even if their message was not polite.

Kevin stated,

He [his mentor] didn't sugarcoat. He was real about it, and he pushed me. He got on me a few times, but I needed it. I needed somebody to discipline me,

stay on my back, and make sure I did all my work. And that person was the best thing that happened to me in my college career. He got my head straight.

Rodney shared similarly and stated,

He kept me on my toes, checked on my grades and stuff like I was in high school. He would make me pull up my grades or look them up himself because he could do that. He had consent, of course.

Rodney also mentioned that he considered dropping out of college, but his mentor would not allow it. Rodney stated,

I was like; I think I'm going to drop you out. I didn't do good. I don't think I can do this." [His mentor] looked him in the eyes and was like; you are a candidate for greatness; you are not dropping out. I kind of sat there, and he just reminded me of all the hurdles and mountains that I climbed. And he told me that this isn't my stopping point. He was like, your stopping point is after you walk across the stage with your bachelor's. And then he was like, oh, excuse me. I mean, your master's. And then he did it again, excuse me, your doctor's.

Most of the participants confessed that they did not always go to class. Reasons included that they were tired or did not want to attend class. Bryson stated, "He would check on me every day. He would check on me how my classes were going, and check if I'm going to class." Bryson stated, "[His mentor] really pushed me to just do better. Bryson stated, "[His mentor] gave me tools that I needed." Bryson mentioned that he still resonates with a lesson he mentored shared with him. Bryson stated,

[His Mentor] made me reflect that there is no time to mess up. As a Black man, you have options: go to college, do whatever you want to do, six feet, or go to jail. As a Black man, that just kept in my head. And I'm like, I don't want to be six feet. I don't want to go to jail. So, the only way to success is for me to go to school, get this degree, and get a job. So that really pushed me.

Jalen shared a similar story as Rodney about how his mentor held him accountable.

Jalen stated,

[His mentor] had access to my grades because there were times that a bad grade would come in, and he would just randomly check on me like, Hey, how are you doing? How's this class going? And it's like, Ooh, did you see that grade that I just got? And he wasn't afraid to sit down with me and make me do the work. There were many times that I was sitting in the back of his office doing work just to get it done.

Jamaal stated that he would have been "an average student" without his mentor's extra push. Jamaal praised his mentor for always keeping him accountable and pushing him to complete his work, especially with math. Jamaal stated, "I'm not good at math, and I was always struggling, but thanks to God for him. [His mentor] got me through it and made me sit with people who knew math." Jamaal mentioned that his professors never pushed him that hard and believed that they did not care for him and thought they only wanted him to "get in and get out" of their class.

Theme 3: Positive Black Male Figure

The research participants collectively concluded that their mentors were more than just other adults in their life. Instead, the participants considered their mentor a brother, influencer, friend, or father. They expressed that they looked up to them and observed how they carried themselves, hoping they could mirror them later in life. For example, Jamaal stated, "just watching [His Mentor] shaped me into being a professional. He carried himself well, and I tried to act the same." Their mentors shared their life stories, reassuring them they could make it in life just as they did. Participants also mentioned how accessible the mentors were and how easy it was to communicate with them about academic, personal, or social issues. The participants expressed that they were positive Black male figures in their life that they aspired to be.

Kevin stated,

[His Mentor] was like a big brother. We talk and tell stories. He told me about his experiences in college, something I could relate to. Told me stuff I should do, shouldn't do, what I should take, how I should go about things. He just gave me good advice.

Bryson and Jalen both considered their mentors as father figures. Bryson mentioned in his first interview that he and his father did not get along because his father was "a negative person" when he mentioned his goals. Bryson stated, "I am not close to my dad like that; my mentor was more of a father figure. He shaped me into who I am today. So, we're really close." Bryson even mentioned that his mentor was the closet

positive "Black male figure" in his life. Jalen shared similar sentiments as Bryson.

Although Jalen knows and has a relationship with his father, he does not look to him for guidance. Jalen stated, "me and my dad never were close. My mentor was the closest thing to a Black male figure helping me in this lifestyle."

Rodney stated,

I could call him anytime, and he would drop everything to help him in his time of need. It was a strong relationship, almost like a friendship, like a best friend type of thing. Like I call, he would come running.

Each participant was asked about the most memorable and beneficial components of being involved in the BMI program, and the participants spoke highly of their mentors.

Jamaal stated,

[His Mentor] gave me preparations for obstacles. I feel like you're going to

grow up more and just go through more stuff. It doesn't have to be anything crazy, just adulting. He taught me how to adult better, if that makes sense.

Jalen stated, "Being able to have that person that I can ask a question. If [His Mentor] didn't know the answer, he would go to his connections and get the answer." Bryson stated, "I would say just him being there, him advising me on what to do, benefited me because that's what I am today. He pushed me to my full potential." Rodney stated, "The fact that I can just call if I have a problem."

Kevin stated,

I think the most beneficial thing from that mentorship from him and me is he made me realize what I could do if I took school seriously, the jobs out there,

the opportunities out there, people I could meet. He made me realize that if I wanted to be successful in life, I got to put the work in school, focus, do my work, and study. He put that in my brain every day we talked.

Whether they considered their mentor a brother, father, or a friend, the support from the mentors has proven to be significant in their success. The research participants gained valuable lessons from their mentors, no matter how they presented the teachable moments—their words of wisdom and presence in their lives helped them view success as tangible and achievable.

Chapter Summary

Chapter 4 provides the findings of this case study that resulted from the lived experiences of five Black male graduates at one associate-level college in the southeastern region who participated in a BMI. The chapter included an introduction of the participants, interview findings, data analysis, and emerging themes. Three individual interviews and one focus group were later transcribed and coded to identify data themes. See Table 3.

Table 3. Themes

Theme	Name
1	Sense of belonging
2	Accountability
3	Positive Black male figure

These three themes allowed me to construct descriptions from the research participants' lived experiences. As a result, the data tells the story that the mentoring program had a lasting impact on the participants' success at college and success after

graduating. Chapter 5 will provide an interpretation of the results and the implications of the study findings. Finally, Chapter 5 will discuss limitations, literature gaps, and future research recommendations.

Chapter V: Conclusion, Discussion, and Recommendations

I aimed to explore lived experiences of graduates of a BMI mentoring program at one associate-level college in the southeastern region. The study's purpose was to examine the impact mentoring had on the participant's success at the colleges and its impact on obtaining their degree. A case study design was utilized to collect data from the participants on their thoughts on how the mentoring program impacted them. To collect the lived experiences, five males who identified as Black agreed to participate in the study. Each participant had three induvial interviews and participated in one focus group. Through this interviewing process, the participants shared their experiences. The research questions guiding this study were:

RQ1: How do graduates of the mentoring program view their success with the program?

RQ2: What do students taking part in the mentoring program have to say about their experience at the college?

RQ3: What do the mentoring program participants believe was the most beneficial aspect of the program?

As discussed in Chapter 1, the CRT was used as the theoretical framework.

According to Morgan (2013), "The use of CRT can help identify structural and institutional racism in education and how they contribute to injustice and inequity for Students of Color" (p. 205). Yosso and Solórzano (2005) supported this claim stating that CRT "challenges the ways race and racism impact educational structures, practices, and discourses" (p. 74). The central tenet used to interpret the data for this

study was storytelling and counter-storytelling. Storytelling and counter-storytelling are great tenants that allows researchers to recount the lived experiences of an underrepresented group (Morgan, 2013). Three themes emerged in this study that aligned with the central tenet of the notion that racism is ordinary and not aberrational, and—the CRT tenet of storytelling and counter-storytelling values the knowledge of people of color.

Theme 1 revealed that the participants felt invisible on campus before joining the BMI. They expressed that they could not relate to others on campus. Two participants revealed that they were accustomed to seeing individuals who looked like them before attending college, which gave them a sense of belonging. However, after attending PREP Community College, they were in a "culture shock," for they were not used to being the minority. The other three participants noted that their educational backgrounds have always been predominantly White and expressed sentiments like, "I am used to it," I didn't have to adapt much," or "no different than my middle school or high school." This CRT example highlights the tenet that racism is ordinary and not aberrational. Popular opinions around race would suggest that race is not a factor. However, the participants' statements support the CRT in that race is natural. After joining the BMI, they all expressed that the BMI community brought them joy, allowing them to be comfortable on a predominantly White campus. Many participants noted that the program allowed them to build a community that eventually became a brotherhood. Jackson and Hui (2017) mentioned that Black males join predominantly Black groups because they give them a sense of security and support. This allowed

them to have a positive social life on campus. Students feel more accepted, valued, and essential on campus when they have a sense of belonging (Masika & Jones, 2016). The program also allowed them to discuss their problems and frustrations as a Black male who can relate.

Themes two and three aligned well with the CRT tenet of storytelling by giving the participants an opportunity to share their lived experiences as Black males who attended an associate-level college while participating in a BMI. Howard (2008) stated, "Counterstorytelling gives agency to African American males to offer narratives which can counter much of the rhetorical accounts of their identities that frequently describe them as culturally and socially deficit, uneducated, unmotivated, prone to violence, and anti-intellectual" (p. 975). Theme two revealed the importance of having a great support system on campus.

The participants expressed there were times they did not put school as a top priority, which resulted in them getting bad grades or giving thought to dropping out of college. However, they enjoyed their mentors for the pep talk, the tough conversations, and the authenticity of how much their mentors cared about their success. For example, one participant enjoyed it when their mentor sat them down and talked to them as if they were his parent, telling them to get their stuff together. Another participant enjoyed that their mentor made them do their work in their office and would not let them leave until it was finished. Interestingly, participants seem to like direct directions and believe that contributes to their success.

Theme 3 highlighted the positive effects of having a positive Black male figure as a mentor. The participants looked up to their mentors and aspired to reach their level of success. For example, Jamaal stated, "just watching [His Mentor] shaped me into being a professional. He carried himself well, and I tried to act the same."

According to the participants, having a person who looked like them mentoring gave them an extra push to want to succeed. The participants revealed that until they joined the BMI program, they did not have many people to look up to. The BMI program provided mentors; later, they described them as fathers, brothers, or friends.

The Importance of Mentoring

The research participants expressed how the mentoring program positively impacted their feeling of being welcomed on a predominantly White campus. Along with providing the Black males a mentor, the program provided the participants with a community of Black males to whom they could relate. Bonner and Bailey (2006) explained that for Black males who attend PWIs, their peers help promote a sense of belonging in an environment that differs significantly from their cultural background. The participants explained that they would have monthly sessions that brought all the participants together to fellowship and hear words of wisdom from Black empowerment speakers. Masika and Jones (2016) stated that students feel more accepted, valued, and essential on campus when they have a sense of belonging. The research participants described this community as a "brotherhood." Jamaal noted, "It's good to have people who got the same path as you or the mindset, at least, to be something rather than nothing." Bryson stated, "It was just a space where brothers

like me could just get comfortable and talk about what we faced in our daily to day life." Jalen stated, "There was people I had never seen before on my campus that I saw at other campuses. And once we all came together, it was like, oh, there's a lot of us. There's more of us." Kevin revealed, "I feel it was good to see other people, successful people of my color. I feel it was good to be with a group of them and hear their experiences, their stories." Rodney stated, "It blew my mind. Just felt like home. So, I was like, yeah, this is it. This is what I need, and it kept me going, so it was great."

The research participants expressed that they appreciated their mentors holding them accountable. The research participants had some rough times during the college journey, but their mentors would not let them be mediocre in school and would correct them if they did. For example, Kevin stated, "I needed somebody to discipline me, stay on my back, make sure I did all my work. That person was the best thing that happened to me in my college career."

Bryson discussed how he liked his mentor following up with his teachers about his grades when he was not doing well. Bryson also appreciated how his mentor went to his classes to ensure he was there. Bryson stated, "He would check on me how my classes is, check my grades, check I'm going to class."

Jamaal shared his experience with going through math at college. Jamaal was not necessarily great at math and would not get the proper help. However, his mentor guided and ensured he got the help he needed to pass the course.

Jamaal stated,

In college, I definitely struggled, but thanks to God for him. He got me through it with that class and stuff like that. And I got to sit with people who knew math, just peer-wise or mentor-wise, which helped me graduate because math is not my thing. He pushed me.

Limitations

Qualitative research data collection was used for this study. Qualitative data collection methods include observations, open-ended interviews, focus groups, or field notes (Roberts, 2010). However, there were a few limitations of this study. The first limitation was the population of the participants. The population researched was restricted to Black males. Several other marginalized groups, such as Latino, Asians, Middle Eastern, or Pacific Islanders, could have been included. Opening the pool to include other populations may have provided a different perspective on mentoring. The second limitation was that this research study was conducted using a qualitative approach. Qualitative research allows researchers to collect data from participants; however, by doing this researcher relies on participants to give complete, accurate, and honest answers. This means that the findings are based solely on participants' perceptions and the ability to give accurate meaning to those perceptions. As a novice qualitative researcher, administrator, mentor, and individual who identifies as a Black male, I had to set aside any biases or preconceived notions of the topic to capture their voices and experiences without adding my own accurately.

Research Implications and Recommendations

The study's findings determined that the BMI mentoring program significantly impacted the participants' success at the associate-level college. This study supports LaVant et al.'s (1997) theory on mentoring being an effective instrument for Black males to overcome barriers to achieving academic success. Through the CRT lens utilizing storytelling, Jalen, Kevin, Jamaal, Rodney, and Bryson's counternarratives help overshadow the master narrative that Black males are trouble and unfit for the vigor of college work (Brooks et al., 2013). Although they may have had trouble with certain subjects or doubts that they could not succeed, they were able to lean on their mentor for guidance and support. A recommendation for associate-level colleges is to create more focused programs around Black males. Crisp (2010) noted that specialized programs focusing on Black males' needs aid their social and cultural development.

Strayhorn and Terrell (2007) noted that for this to happen, institutions' leaders need to support the cause by funding the program and not just relying on volunteers.

The study findings also determined that Black males enjoy a supportive environment that brings together individuals like them. This environment developed a sense of belonging on campus. Brooms (2019) agreed and stated that establishing a welcoming environment is crucial to increasing academic performance and success, especially for Black males. Booker (2007) had a similar finding in his study. Booker's study revealed that Black males felt a sense of belonging on campus, which increased academic performance. The participants explained that they would have monthly sessions that brought all the participants together to fellowship and hear words of

wisdom from Black empowerment speakers. They expressed that seeing so many individuals look like them in a room was uplifting. They described the community as "a family" or a "brotherhood." A recommendation for associate-level colleges is to create more environments on campus that are conducive to the needs of Black males. As supported by the literature, Black males join and seek spaces or groups tailored to their needs to feel more secure (Brooms, 2019).

Future Research Recommendations

My hope for the future is that studies such as this one continues to be replicated. The study shows that educational attainment is attainable for Black males when implementing proper initiatives. Continued research will allow more authentic voices of Black males to be heard, allowing others to add to the body of research. A suggestion for future research is to increase the sample size. In this study, I focused on five Black male graduates who participated in a BMI who graduated from one associate-level college. A recommendation to expand and conduct the study at multiple associate-level colleges. This would add to the valuable lived experiences of the Black males. Another recommendation is to conduct a study that follows Black males' experiences from the start of their college journey until they graduate. This arrangement may offer an in-depth analysis of their experiences as they progress from freshman year to their sophomore year. Lastly, I did not focus on other minority groups such as Latino, Asians, Middle Eastern, or Pacific Islanders. Evolving the study to include these groups may be beneficial and worth examining.

Conclusion

I discussed the findings, the emergent themes, recommendations, and future research opportunities. The study findings revealed BMI mentoring program significantly impacted the participants' success at the associate-level college, which led them to graduate.

References

- Allen, J. G. (2017). The extent to which the school leader makes efforts to close Black male achievement gaps that promote reconciliation of value differences within the school organization (Publication No. 10258323) [Doctoral dissertation, The George Washington University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Astin, A. W. (1985). Involvement the cornerstone of excellence. *Change: The Magazine*of Higher Learning, 17(4), 35–39.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.1985.9940532
- Axelson, R. D., & Flick, A. (2010). Defining student engagement. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 43(1), 38–43.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00091383.2011.533096
- Bailey, D. F., & Bradbury-Bailey, M. E. (2006). Promoting achievement for African

 American males through group work. *The Journal for Specialists in Group Work,*32(1), 83–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/01933920600978588
- Basch, C. E. (2011). Healthier students are better learners: A missing link in school reforms to close the achievement gap. *Journal of School Health*, *81*(10), 593–598. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2011.00632.x

- Bell, D. A. (1980). Brown v. board of education and the interest convergence dilemma.

 Harvard Law Review, 93(3), 518–533. https://doi.org/10.2307/1340546
- Black Male Working Academy. (n.d.). *BMWA Creeds*.

https://www.bmwacademyky.org/bmw-creeds/

- Bobo, L., & Kluegel, J. R. (1993). Opposition to race-targeting: self-interest, stratification ideology, or racial attitudes?. *American Sociological Review*, 58(4), 443–464. https://doi.org/10.2307/2096070
- Bonner, F. A., & Bailey, K. W. (2006). Enhancing the academic climate for African American college men. *African American men in college*, 24–46.

 https://drfredbonner.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Enhancing.pdf
- Booker, K. C. (2007). Perceptions of classroom belongingness among African American college students. *College Student Journal*, *41*(1), 178–186.

 https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2007-04273-023
- Boulton, C. A., Hughes, E., Kent, C., Smith, J. R., & Williams, H. T. P. (2019). Student engagement and wellbeing over time at a higher education institution. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(11), e0225770. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0225770
- Brooks, M., Jones, C., & Burt, I. (2013). Are African-American male undergraduate retention Programs Successful? An evaluation of an undergraduate African-American male retention program. *Journal of African American Studies*, *17*(2), 206–221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-012-9233-2

- Brooms, D. R. (2018a). "Building us up": Supporting Black male college students in a Black male initiative program. *Critical Sociology*, *44*(1), 141–155.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920516658940
- Brooms, D. R. (2018b). Exploring Black male initiative programs: Potential and possibilities for supporting Black male success in college. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 87(1), 59–72. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.87.1.0059
- Brooms, D. R. (2019a). Helping us think about ourselves: Black males' sense of belonging through connections and relationships with faculty in college.

 International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 33(9), 1–18.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2019.1687956
- Brooms, D. R. (2019b). "I was just trying to make it": Examining urban Black males' sense of belonging, schooling experiences, and academic success. Urban Education, 54(6), 804–830. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916648743
- Brooms, D. R. (2019c). Not in this alone: Black men's bonding, learning, and sense of belonging in black male initiative programs. *The Urban Review*, *51*(5), 748–767. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-019-00506-5
- Brooms, D. R. (2020). "It's the person, but then the environment, too": Black and Latino males' narratives about their college successes. *Sociology of Race and Ethnicity*, 6(2), 195–208. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332649219884339
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, *2*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z

- Camera, L. (2016, January 13). *Achievement gap between White and Black students still gaping*. US News & World Report. https://www.usnews.com/news/blogs/data-mine/2016/01/13/achievement-gap-between-white-and-black-students-still-gaping
- Carlock, S., Owens, W., & Chaney, M. (2022). *An exploration of the opportunity gap*and collective teacher efficacy (Order No. 29210509). Available from ProQuest

 Dissertations & Theses Global. (2681503656).

 https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/exploration-opportunity-gap-collective-teacher/docview/2681503656/se-2
- Carter, P. L., & Welner, K. G. (Eds.). (2013). Closing the opportunity gap: What America must do to give every child an even chance. Oxford University Press. Cassidy, E. F., & Stevenson, H. C. (2005). They wear the mask. Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 11(4), 53–74.

 https://doi.org/10.1300/j146v11n04_03
- Chan, A. W., Yeh, C. J., & Krumboltz, J. D. (2015). Mentoring ethnic minority counseling and clinical psychology students: A multicultural, ecological, and relational model. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *62*(4), 592–607.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000079
- Clark, J. V. (2014). Addressing the achievement gap in the United States. In *Closing the achievement gap from an international perspective* (pp. 43–72). Springer.

- Clotfelter, C. T., Ladd, H. F., Muschkin, C. G., & Vigdor, J. L. (2013). Success in community college: Do institutions differ? *Research in Higher Education*, *54*(7), 805–824. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-013-9295-6
- Cohen, A. M., & Brawer, F. B. (2003). *The American community college*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Colby, S. L., & Ortman, J. M. (2015). Projections of the size and composition of the US population: 2014 to 2060. Population estimates and projections. Current population reports. P25-1143. *US Census Bureau*.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED578934.pdf
- Condron, D. J., Tope, D., Steidl, C. R., & Freeman, K. J. (2013). Racial segregation and the Black/White achievement gap, 1992 to 2009. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 54(1), 130–157. https://doi.org/10.1111/tsq.12010
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.*. SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2016). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches*. SAGE Publications.

- Crisp, G. (2010). The impact of mentoring on community college students' intent to persist. *The Review of Higher Education*, *34*(1), 39–60. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2010.0003
- Crisp, G., Baker, V. L., Griffin, K. A., Lunsford, L. G., & Pifer, M. J. (2017). Mentoring undergraduate students. *ASHE Higher Education Report*, *43*(1), 7–103. https://doi.org/10.1002/aehe.20117
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1998). Unequal opportunity: Race and education. *The Brookings***Review, 16(2), 28–32.

 http://maxweber.hunter.cuny.edu/pub/eres/SOC217 PIMENTEL/education.pd

 f
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2013a). Inequality and school resources. In P. L. Carter & K. G.

 Welner, Closing the opportunity gap: What America must do to give every child

 an even chance (pp. 77–97). Oxford University Press.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2013b). When teachers support and evaluate their peers. ASCD.

 https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/when-teachers-support-and-evaluate-their-peers

 peers
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2013c). What It will take to close the opportunity gap. In What

 America must do to give every child an even chance (pp. 77–96). Oxford

 University.
- Davis, R. J., & Palmer, R. T. (2010). The role of postsecondary remediation for African American students: A review of research. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 79(4), 503–520. https://www.jstor.org/stable/41341092

- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (2001). *Critical race theory: An introduction*. New York University Press.
- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (2017). *Critical race theory: An introduction*. New York University Press.
- Donnor, J. K. (2005). Towards an interest-convergence in the education of African-American football student athletes in major college sports. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 8(1), 45–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/1361332052000340999
- Dougherty, K. (1987). The effects of community colleges: Aid or hindrance to socioeconomic attainment? *Sociology of Education*, *60*(2), 86–103. https://doi.org/10.2307/2112584
- Douglas, T. (2017). African American males, mentorship, and university success: A qualitative study [Doctoral dissertation, Eastern Kentucky University].

 Encompass. https://encompass.eku.edu/etd/483/
- Drury, R. L. (2003). Community colleges in America: A historical perspective. *Inquiry*, 8(1), n1. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ876835.pdf
- Dubbeld, A., Hoog, N. D., Den Brok, P., & de Laat, M. (2019). Teachers' attitudes toward multiculturalism in relation to general and diversity-related burnout.

 *European Education, 51(1), 16—

 31.https://doi.org/10.1080/10564934.2017.1401435
- DuBois, D. L., & Karcher, M. J. (2005). Handbook of youth mentoring. SAGE.

- Engle, J., & Tinto, V. (2008). Moving beyond access: College success for low-income, first-generation students. *Pell Institute for the Study of Opportunity in Higher Education*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED504448.pdf
- Feingold, J. P. (2019). Hidden in plain sight: A more compelling case for diversity. *Utah Law Review*, 59.

https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/utahlr2019&div=6&id=&page=

- Ferguson, A. A. (2020). *Bad boys: Public schools in the making of black masculinity*.

 University of Michigan Press.
- Fernando, D., & Kenny, E. (2021). Negotiating a sense of fit in elite higher education:

 Exploring the identity work of widening participation students. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 20(2), 133–155.

 https://doi.org/10.5465/amle.2019.0358
- Fordham, S. (1996). *Blacked out: Dilemmas of race, identity, and success at capital high*. University Of Chicago Press.
- Garcia, N. M., López, N., & Vélez, V. N. (2018). Quantcrit: rectifying quantitative methods through critical race theory. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, *21*(2), 149–157. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.2017.1377675
- Gause, C. P. (2010). *Diversity, equity, and inclusive education*.

 Rotterdam/Boston/Taipei Sense Publishers.

- Gauthier, T. (2020). A renewed examination of the stigma associated with community college career and technical education. *Community College Journal of Research* and *Practice*, 44(10), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2020.1758835
- Gibbons, M. M., & Woodside, M. (2014). Addressing the needs of first-generation college students: Lessons learned from adults from low-education families.

 **Journal of College Counseling, 17(1), 21–36. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1882.2014.00045.x
- Glatthorn, A. A., & Joyner, R. L. (2005). Writing the winning thesis or dissertation A step-by-step guide. Thousand Oaks Corwin Press Cop.
- Goldrick-Rab, S. (2007). *Promoting academic momentum at community colleges:*Challenges and opportunities. https://doi.org/10.7916/D8474K07
- Gordon, D. M., Iwamoto, D., Ward, N., Potts, R., & Boyd, E. (2009). Mentoring urban black middle-school male students: Implications for academic achievement.

 The Journal of Negro Education, 78(3), 277.

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2850445/
- Great Schools Partnership. (2016, February 18). Student engagement. The Glossary of Education Reform. https://www.edglossary.org/student-engagement/
- Grace-Odeleye, B., & Santiago, J. (2019). A review of some diverse models of summer bridge programs for first-generation and at-risk college students.

 **Administrative Issues Journal: Connecting Education, Practice, and Research, 9(1), 35–47. https://aij.scholasticahq.com/article/9219.pdf

Hall, R. R. (2017). Factors contributing to the persistence of African American and
 Hispanic undergraduate males enrolled at regional predominantly white
 institution. Administrative Issues Journal, 7(1).
 https://doi.org/10.5929/2017.7.1.4

Hanson, M. (n.d.). *Average cost of community college*. Education Data Initiative. https://educationdata.org/average-cost-of-community-college

Hardin, B., & Hardin, M. (2002). Into the mainstream: Practical strategies for teaching in inclusive environments. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 75(4), 175–178.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00098650209604925

- Harper, S. R. (2009). Niggers no more: a critical race counternarrative on black male student achievement at predominantly white colleges and universities.

 International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 22(6), 697–712.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390903333889
- Harper, S. R. (2012). Black male student success in higher education: A report from the National Black Male College Achievement Study. Center for the Study of Race and Equity in Education, University of Pennsylvania Graduate School of Education. http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/381962.
- Harris, C. I. (1993). Whiteness as property. *Harvard Law Review*, *106*(8), 1707–1791. https://doi.org/10.2307/1341787

Hartlep, N. D. (2009). Critical race theory an examination of its past, present, and future implications. *Online Submission*.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED506735.pdf

- Hatch, A. R. (2007). *Critical race theory. The Blackwell Encyclopedia of Sociology*.

 Blackwell Publishing.
- Hawkins-Jones, J., & Reeves, S. (2020). Unveiled: What is keeping black male students from success?. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, *86*(5), 40–47.

 https://www.dkgnj.org/uploads/2/2/3/1/22313516/2020 jour 86
 5 theevolvingnatureofschooling.pdf#page=40
- Hayward, B. C. (2022). Closing the opportunity gap between black and white students through the use of cultural representation in selected readings (Order No. 29167391). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (2661424194).

 https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/closing-opportunity-gap-between-black-

white/docview/2661424194/se-2

- Hiraldo, P. (2010). The role of critical race theory in higher education. *The Vermont Connection*, *31*(1), 7. https://scholarworks.uvm.edu/tvc/vol31/iss1/7/
- Howard, T. C. (2008). Who really cares? The disenfranchisement of African American males in preK-12 schools: A critical race theory perspective. *Teachers College Record*, *110*(5), 954–985. https://doi.org/10.1177/016146810811000507

- Hughes, R. L. (2010). Engaging African American males for educational success. *Gifted Child Today*, 33(2), 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1177/107621751003300213
- Hung, M., Smith, W. A., Voss, M. W., Franklin, J. D., Gu, Y., & Bounsanga, J. (2020).
 Exploring student achievement gaps in school districts across the United States.
 Education and Urban Society, 52(2), 175–193.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124519833442
- Irvine, F. R. (2019). Academic success of African American males in a historically Black

 University. *Journal of African American Studies*, *23*(3).

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-019-09434-w
- Jackson, B. A., & Hui, M. M. (2017). Looking for brothers: Black male bonding at a predominantly white institution. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 86(4), 463. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.86.4.0463
- Jenkins, T. S. (2006). Mr. nigger the challenges of educating Black males within American society. *Journal of Black Studies*, *37*(1), 127–155. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934704273931
- Kahu, E. R. (2013). Framing student engagement in higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, *38*(5), 758–773. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2011.598505
- Kahu, E. R., & Nelson, K. (2018). Student engagement in the educational interface:

 understanding the mechanisms of student success. *Higher Education Research*& Development, 37(1), 58–71.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2017.1344197

Kasper, H. T. (2003). The changing role of community college. *Occupational Outlook Quarterly*, 46(4), 14–21.

https://stats.bls.gov/careeroutlook/2002/winter/art02.pdf

Kentucky Postsecondary Education Interactive Data Dashboard. (n.d.). Student Enrollment.

https://reports.ky.gov/t/CPE/views/KentuckyPostsecondaryEducationInteractiv
eDataDashboard/Enrollment?%3AshowAppBanner=false&%3Adisplay count=n
&%3AshowVizHome=n&%3Aorigin=viz share link&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVi
zportal=y&%3Aembed=y

- Kern, K. (2020). Teaching leaders: Culturally responsive teaching and the achievement gap [Undergraduate thesis, The University of Mississippi]. eGrove.

 https://egrove.olemiss.edu/hon-thesis/1583
- Koppie, B. (2017). *The Black male achievement gap: Strategies for intervention. Chicago* [Clinical research paper, St. Catherine University].

 https://sophia.stkate.edu/msw_papers/761
- Kozol, J. (2005). The shame of the nation: The restoration of apartheid schooling in America. Crown.
- Kuh, G. D. (2009). The national survey of student engagement: Conceptual and empirical foundations. *New Directions for Institutional Research*, 2009(141), 5–20. https://doi.org/10.1002/ir.283

- Ladson-Billings, G. (1998). Just what is critical race theory and what's it doing in a nice field like education? *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 11(1), 7–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/095183998236863
- Ladson-Billings, G. J. (1999). Chapter 7: Preparing teachers for diverse student populations: A critical race theory perspective. *Review of Research in Education*, 24(1), 211–247. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X024001211
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2021). Critical race theory—What it is not!. In *Handbook of critical* race theory in education (pp. 32–43). Routledge.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2013). Lack of Achievement or Loss of Opportunity? In *Title: Closing*the Opportunity Gap: What America Must Do to Give Every Child an Even

 Chance. Oxford University.
- Ladson-Billings, G., & Tate, W. F. (1995). Toward a critical race theory of education.

 Teachers College Record: The Voice of Scholarship in Education, 97(1), 47–68.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/016146819509700104
- LaVant, B. D., Anderson, J. L., & Tiggs, J. W. (1997). Retaining African American men through mentoring initiatives. *New Directions for Student Services*, 1997(80), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1002/ss.8004
- Lichtman, M. (2013). *Qualitative research in education: A user's guide*. SAGE Publications.
- Lindsey, R. B., Nuri Robins, K., & Terrell, R. D. (2009). *Cultural proficiency: A manual for school leaders*. Corwin Press.

- Lucas, Y. (2018). Support structures: Challenges and potential solutions toward persistence in earning a baccalaureate degree for Black male students attending predominantly White Institutions. *Journal of Business Diversity*, 18(1). http://m.www.na-businesspress.com/JBD/JBD18-1/LucasY 18 1.pdf
- Masika, R., & Jones, J. (2016). Building student belonging and engagement: insights into higher education students' experiences of participating and learning together. *Teaching in Higher Education*, *21*(2), 138–150.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2015.1122585
- McCoy, D. L. (2014). A phenomenological approach to understanding first-generation college students of color transitions to one "extreme" predominantly White institution. In A. Hughley & A. Heiselt, *College student affairs journal volume 32* (pp. 155–169). Information Age Publishing.
- Meghji, A. (2021). Just what is critical race theory, and what is it doing in British sociology? From "BritCrit" to the racialized social system approach. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 72(2), 347–359. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-4446.12801
- Milner, H. R. (2017). Opening commentary: The permanence of racism, critical race theory, and expanding analytic sites. *Peabody Journal of Education*, *92*(3), 294–301. https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956x.2017.1324656
- Mohamad Karkouti, I. (2016). Professional leadership practices and diversity issues in the US higher education system: A research synthesis. *Education*, *136*(4), 405-412.

- https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/prin/ed/2016/00000136/00000004
 /art00002
- Morgan, A. L. (2013). Critical race theory: A Counternarrative of African American male medical students attending predominantly White medical schools (Publication No. 3561013) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Rochester]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Nathan, L. D. (2021). The lack of positive male African American role models in low-income communities: A qualitative generic study (Publication No. 28722245)

 [Doctoral dissertation, Northcentral University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Newman, C. B., Wood, J. L., & Harris III, F. (2015). Black men's perceptions of sense of belonging with faculty members in community colleges. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 84(4), 564. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.84.4.0564
- Noguera, P. A., & Wing, J. Y. (Eds.). (2008). *Unfinished business: Closing the racial achievement gap in our schools*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Ogbu, J. U. (2004). Collective identity and the burden of "acting White" in Black history, community, and education. *The Urban Review*, *36*(1), 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:URRE.0000042734.83194.f6
- Olson, A., & Peterson, R. L. (2015). *Student engagement*. Lincoln: University of Nebraska-Lincoln. https://k12engagement.unl.edu/strategy-briefs/Student%20Engagement%2010-2-15 0.pdf

- O'Meara, K., Griffin, K. A., Kuvaeva, A., Nyunt, G., & Robinson, T. N. (2017). Sense of belonging and its contributing factors in graduate education. International *Journal of Doctoral Studies*, *12*, 251–279. https://doi.org/10.28945/3903
- Orcher, L. T. (2017). *Conducting Research: Preparing a preliminary research proposal.*Routledge.
- Pace, C. R. (1984). Measuring the quality of college student experiences. An account of the development and use of the College Student Experiences Questionnaire.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED255099.pdf
- Palmer, R. T., & Maramba, D. C. (2011). African American male achievement: using a tenet of critical theory to explain the African American male achievement disparity. *Education and Urban Society*, *43*(4), 431–450.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124510380715
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). *How college affects students: A third decade of research*. Volume 2. Jossey-Bass, An Imprint of Wiley.
- Petty, T. (2014). Motivating first-generation students to academic success and college completion. *College Student Journal*, 48(1), 133–140.

 https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/prin/csj/2014/00000048/00000001
 /art00015
- Pike, G. R., & Kuh, G. D. (2005). A typology of student engagement for American colleges and universities. *Research in Higher Education*, *46*(2), 185–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-004-1599-0

- Portes, P. R. (2008). A cultural approach to establishing equity and closing the educational achievement gap.
 - https://ugakr.galib.uga.edu/bitstream/handle/10724/32910/claseworkingpape rportesurbaned2008.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Reynolds, R., & Mayweather, D. (2017). Recounting racism, resistance, and repression:

 examining the experiences and #hashtag activism of college students with

 critical race theory and counternarratives. *The Journal of Negro Education*,

 86(3), 283–304. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.86.3.0283
- Roberts, C. M. (2010). The dissertation journey: A practical and comprehensive guide to planning, writing, and defending your dissertation. Thousand Oaks Corwin Press.
- Rowley, R. L., & Wright, D. W. (2011). No "White" child left behind: The academic achievement gap between Black and White students. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 93–107. https://www.jstor.org/stable/41341113
- Salinitri, G. (2005). The effects of formal mentoring on the retention rates for first-year, low achieving students. *Canadian Journal of Education / Revue*Canadienne de L'éducation, 28(4), 853–873. https://doi.org/10.2307/4126458
- Seidman, I. (2019). *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences*. Teachers College Press.
- Senegal, P. G. (2011). A case study of a southeastern African American male mentoring community college program (Publication No. 3463728) [Doctoral dissertation, North Carolina State University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.

- Sinanan, A. (2016). The value and necessity of mentoring African American college students at PWI's. *Journal of Pan African Studies*, *9*(8), 155–166.

 http://www.jpanafrican.org/docs/vol9no8/9.8-X-10-Sinanan%20(1).pdf
- Smith, W. A., Allen, W. R., & Danley, L. L. (2007). "Assume the position... you fit the description" psychosocial experiences and racial battle fatigue among African American male college students. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *51*(4), 551–578. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764207307742
- Smith, W. A., Mustaffa, J. B., Jones, C. M., Curry, T. J., & Allen, W. R. (2016). "You make me wanna holler and throw up both my hands!": campus culture, Black misandric microaggressions, and racial battle fatigue. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 29(9), 1189–1209.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2016.1214296
- Smith, W. A., Yosso, T. J., & Solórzano, D. G. (2007). Racial primes and black misandry on historically white campuses: Toward critical race accountability in educational administration. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *43*(5), 559–585. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161x07307793
- Solorzano, D., Ceja, M., & Yosso, T. (2000). Critical race theory, racial microaggressions, and campus racial climate: The experiences of African American college students. *Journal of Negro Education*, 60–73.

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/2696265

- Steele, C. M. (1997). A threat in the air: How stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *American Psychologist*, *52*(6), 613–629.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.52.6.613
- Strayhorn, T. L., & DeVita, J. M. (2010). African American males' student engagement:

 A comparison of good practices by institutional type. *Journal of African American Studies*, 14(1), 87–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-009-9110-9
- Strayhorn, T. L., & Terrell, M. C. (2007). Mentoring and satisfaction with college for black students. *Negro Educational Review*, *58*.

 https://www.proquest.com/docview/219027853
- Stromei, L. K. (2000). Increasing retention and success through mentoring. New

 Directions for Community Colleges, 2000(112), 55–62.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.11205
- Taylor, E. (1998). A Primer on critical race theory. *The Journal of Blacks in Higher Education*, 19(19), 122. https://doi.org/10.2307/2998940
- Taylor, E., Gillborn, D., & Ladson-Billings, G. (2009). Foundations of critical race theory in education. https://philpapers.org/rec/TAYFOC
- Tinto, V. (1993). Building community. *Liberal Education*, 79(4), 16–21.
- Tolliver, D. V., III, & Miller, M. T. (2018). Graduation 101: Critical strategies for African

 American men college completion. *Education*, *138*(4), 301–308.

 https://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/prin/ed/2018/00000138/00000004

 /art00002

- Tyler, R. (1932). Measuring the results of college instruction. *Educational Research Bulletin*, 11(10), 253–260. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1470144
- Tym, C., McMillion, R., Barone, S., & Webster, J. (2004). First-generation college students: A literature review. TG (*Texas Guaranteed Student Loan Corporation*). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED542505.pdf
- United States Department of Education. (n.d.). Status and trends in the education of racial and ethnic groups.
 - https://nces.ed.gov/programs/raceindicators/indicator_red.asp
- Utsey, S. O. (1997). Racism and the psychological well-being of African American men.

 Journal of African American Men, 3(1), 69–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-997-1011-1
- Von Robertson, R., & Chaney, C. (2015). The Influence of stereotype threat on the responses of black males at a predominantly White college in the south.

 Journal of Pan African Studies, 7(8).

 https://www.augusta.edu/aami/documents/influence-of-stereotype-threat-vonrobertson-chaney.pdf
- Wang, T. R. (2012). Understanding the memorable messages first-generation college students receive from on-campus mentors. *Communication Education*, *61*(4), 335–357. https://doi.org/10.1080/03634523.2012.691978
- Washington, G., Caldwell, L. D., Watson, J., & Lindsey, L. (2017). African American rites of passage interventions: A vehicle for utilizing African American male elders.

- Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 27(1-2), 100–109. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2016.1266858
- Watson, J., Washington, G., & Stepteau-Watson, D. (2015). Umoja: A culturally specific approach to mentoring young African American males. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, 32(1), 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-014-0367-z
- Welner, K. G., & Carter, P. L. (2013). *Closing the opportunity gap : what America must do to give every child an even chance*. Oxford University Press.
- Wendt, J. L. (2014). *The invisible student retaining minority males in the community*college setting (Publication No. 3619790) [Doctoral dissertation, Arizona State

 University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- West, C. (1994). Keeping faith: Philosophy and race in America. Routledge.
- West, C. (2002). *Prophesy deliverance!: An Afro-American revolutionary Christianity*. Westminster John Knox Press.
- Whiting, G. W. (2006). From at risk to at promise: Developing scholar identities among black males. *Journal of Secondary Gifted Education*, 17(4), 222–229. https://doi.org/10.4219/jsge-2006-407
- Williams, D., & Williams-Morris, R. (2000). Racism and mental health: The African American experience. *Ethnicity & Health*, *5*(3-4), 243–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/713667453
- Willie, C. V. (1994). Theories of human social action. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Winant, H. (2001). *The world is a ghetto: Race and democracy since World War II*. Basic Books.

- Wood, J. L. (2012). Leaving the 2-year college: Predictors of Black male collegian departure. *Journal of Black Studies*, *43*(3), 303–326. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934711424490
- Wood, J. L., & Harrison, J. D. (2014). College choice for black Males in the community college: factors influencing institutional selection. *Negro Educational Review*, 65(1–4), 87–97. https://cceal.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/College-Choice-for-Black-Males-in-the-Community-College -Factors-Influencing-Institutional-Selection.pdf
- Woosley, S. A., & Shepler, D. K. (2011). Understanding the early integration experiences of first-generation college students. *College Student Journal*, *45*(4), 700–714. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ970018.pdf
- Yosso, T. J. (2000). A critical race and LatCrit approach to media literacy: Chicana /o
 resistance to visual microaggressions (Publication No. 9993011) [Doctoral
 dissertation, University of California]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Yosso, T. J., Parker, L., Solorzano, D. G., & Lynn, M. (2004). Chapter 1: From Jim Crow to affirmative action and back again: A critical race discussion of racialized rationales and access to higher education. Review of Research in Education, 28(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X028001001
- Yosso, T. J., & Solórzano, D. G. (2005). Conceptualizing a critical race theory in sociology. In M. Romero & E. Margolis, *The Blackwell companion to social inequalities* (pp. 117–146). Wiley.

Zell, M. (2011). I am my brother's keeper: The impact of a brother2brother program on African American men in college. *Journal of African American Males in Education*, 2(2), 214–233.

https://search.issuelab.org/resources/22929/22929.pdf

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Consent Form

Appendix A: Consent Form

You are being invited to participate in a research study on graduates who participated in a Black Male Initiative program at an associate level. This study is being conducted by Brandon Turnley, a doctoral student at Eastern Kentucky University.

If you decide to participate in the study, you will be asked to participate in three individual interviews and one focus group interview that will be recorded so I can transcribe later. All interviews will take place at an agreed location of your choice. I will use your answers as part of my study. I would like to keep this information in my files for three years, and after that time, I will destroy the information. Your participation is expected to take no more than 30 to 45 minutes long for each interview.

This study is anonymous. You will not be asked to provide your name or other identifying information as part of the study. No one, not even members of the research team, will know that the information you give came from you. Your information will be combined with information from other people taking part in the study. When we write up the results of the study, we will write about this combined information.

If you decide to take part in the study, it should be because you really want to volunteer. You will not lose any benefits or rights you would normally have if you choose not to volunteer. You can stop at any time during the study and still keep the benefits and rights you had before volunteering.

This study has been reviewed and approved for exemption by the Institutional Review Board at Eastern Kentucky University as research protocol number 4553. If you have any questions about the study, please contact Brandon Turnley. If you have questions about your rights as a research volunteer, please contact the Division of Sponsored Programs at Eastern Kentucky University by calling 859-622-3636.

By completing the activity that begins April 4, 2022, you agree that you (1) are at least 18 years of age; (2) have read and understand the information above; and (3) voluntarily agree to participate in this study.

Thank you so much for thinking about doing this. If you would like to participate in this study, please sign your name below.

Sincerely,

Brandon Turnley
Doctoral Candidate, Eastern Kentucky University

YES, I	(Print First and last Name) would like
to participate in this study.	
Participants Signature:	Date:

Appendix B: Email Invitation

Appendix B: Email Invitation

Dear Invitee,

My name is Brandon Turnley. I am a doctoral student at Eastern Kentucky University in

the Educational Leadership program. I am kindly requesting your participation in my

doctoral research study that I am conducting titled: Community College Retention

Initiative: A Qualitative Study on the Lived Experiences Of Black Males Entrenched in a

Mentoring Program at One Associate-Level College in the Southeastern Region. I am

interested in hearing the voices of graduates who went through a Black Male Initiative.

Your participation is completely voluntary, and you may withdraw from the study at

any time. The study is completely anonymous, therefore, it does not require you to

provide your name or any other identifying information.

If you would like to participate in the study, please read the Informed Consent form

attached. Once you have reviewed the consent form and are willing to participate in

the study. Please sign and date the consent form and send it back to me.

Thank you so much for thinking about doing this.

Sincerely,

Brandon Turnley

Doctoral Candidate, Eastern Kentucky University

108

Appendix C: Interview Questions

Appendix C: Interview Questions

INTERVIEW ONE: PERSONAL INFORMATION AND PAST EDUCATIONAL EXPERIENCES

- 1. Tell me a little about yourself and where you are from.
 - What are some of your hobbies?
 - What are some things you like to do?
- 2. Think back to your K-12 years.
 - Tell me about a memorable event that was good.
 - Tell me about a memorable event that was not so good.
 - How did each event make you feel? What did you learn from them?
- 3. What type of student were you in school?
 - Did you get into much trouble?
 - Were you a quiet student?
- 4. Did you like school?
 - What made it enjoyable
 - What made it not enjoyable
 - What improvements would you want to be implemented if you had to go through K-12 again?
- 5. Did you feel like you had a good support system within the school?
 - Did you feel like you could talk to someone who cared if you had an issue?
- 6. Think about some of the teachers you had.
 - Was there a particular teacher you liked? Why?
 - Was there a particular teacher you disliked? Why?

- 7. Going through K-12, what did you aspire to be?
 - Why did you want to be this?
 - What motivated you to keep this aspiration?
 - At any point, did you change it?

INTERVIEW TWO: PRESENT EDUCATIONAL EXPERIENCES

- 1. Tell me about your college experience
 - Why did you choose this school?
 - Did you like your experience? If not, why? If so, what made it a great experience?
 - How did you feel being a Black male on a predominantly White campus?
- 2. What was your primary reason for attending college?
- 3. At any point during your college journey, did you ever consider dropping out?
 - If so, what influenced you to stay?
- 4. How did you become involved with mentoring at your college?
 - Why did you join the program?
 - Did you like being a part of the mentoring program? If so, what made it enjoyable? If no, why not?
 - Would you recommend incoming first-year students to join the program? If so, why? If not, why?
- 5. In your own words, what does mentoring mean to you?
 - Do you believe the mentoring you received in the program helped you succeed in school? Why or why not?

- 6. Think back about the mentor you had with the program.
 - How long did this person mentor you?
 - What type of relationship did you have with the mentor?
 - What was most beneficial to you about the relationship?
 - What impact, if applicable, did mentoring have on your completion of the degree?
- 7. In your own words. How would you describe success?
 - Do you think being a part of the mentoring program helped guide you to the success that you have now?

INTERVIEW THREE: FUTURE TRAJECTORIES

- 1. What is next for you since you graduated? What are you doing now?
- 2. What are your career aspirations?
- 3. Do you believe your mentors prepared you for your next steps?
- 4. Do you still keep in contact with your mentor since graduating? If so, how has that been going?
 - Is the mentorship still beneficial to you?

FOCUS GROUP INTERVIEW

- Think about your experience at your college. Would you recommend others to go there? If so, why? If not, why?
- 2. Do you think you would have been as successful had you not joined the mentoring program?

- 3. What advantages do you believe you had as a member of the mentoring program?
- 4. What would you say was your favorite part of the mentoring program?
 - Was it only mentoring, or did the program do other activities?
- 5. As a Black male who has graduated college. What advice would you give to the incoming Black males entering college?